

Mobility • Safety • Economy • Environment



Supporting older driver mobility and effective self-regulation A review of the current literature

Dr Julie Gandolfi Driving Research Ltd. January 2020

The Royal Automobile Club Foundation for Motoring Ltd is a transport policy and research organisation which explores the economic, mobility, safety and environmental issues relating to roads and their users. The Foundation publishes independent and authoritative research with which it promotes informed debate and advocates policy in the interest of the responsible motorist.

RAC Foundation 89–91 Pall Mall London SW1Y 5HS

Tel no: 020 7747 3445 www.racfoundation.org

Registered Charity No. 1002705 January 2020 © Copyright Royal Automobile Club Foundation for Motoring Ltd



Supporting older driver mobility and effective self-regulation A review of the current literature

Dr Julie Gandolfi Driving Research Ltd. January 2020

About the Author

Dr Julie Gandolfi is a Chartered Psychologist with a PhD in Human Factors from Cranfield University for research relating to psychometric assessment of police driver risk. In 2007 Julie founded Driving Research Ltd., specialising in consultancy on the development and evaluation of road safety initiatives, attitudinal and behavioural driver assessment and training, and incorporation of psychological theory and research into road safety education and interventions, working with a variety of clients including Unilever, Highways England, various Local Authorities and insurance underwriters. She has also worked closely with Cranfield University, lecturing on postgraduate degree courses including the MSc in Driver Behaviour and Education and the MSc in Automotive Systems Engineering.

Acknowledgements

The author would like to thank the RAC Foundation for commissioning this review, with particular thanks to Elizabeth Box for her support throughout the production of the document.

Disclaimer

i

This report has been prepared for the RAC Foundation by Dr Julie Gandolfi (Driving Research). Any errors or omissions are the author's sole responsibility. The report content reflects the views of the author and not necessarily those of the RAC Foundation.

Contents

	Forewordi	iv
	List of Abbreviations	V
1	Introduction	1
2	Age-Related Impairment	2
	2.1 Background	2
	2.2 Cognitive impairment	4
	2.3 Workload	7
	2.4 Dementia	8
	2.5 Visual problems	9
	2.6 Personality and affect	0
	2.7 Self-report 1	1
	2.8 Measures	3
3	Stress, Confidence and Technology1	8
	3.1 Vehicle technology	8
	3.2 Advanced driver assistance systems – acceptance and usage	9
	3.3 Training in the use of advanced vehicle technology	2
	3.4 Reversing cameras	4
	3.5 Navigation and route guidance	5
	3.6 Highly automated vehicles	7
	3.7 Meeting older drivers' needs	9
	3.8 Advanced vehicle technologies as support for older drivers	0
4	Effective Interventions	2
	4.1 Assessing older drivers	2
	4.2 Self-awareness	5
	4.3 Family feedback	7
	4.4 Vehicle feedback	0

	4.5 Education	41
	4.6 Supporting effective self-regulation	46
5	Conclusions	49
	References	51
	Appendix A: Influence of statements from family members regarding older driver adaptation	78
	Appendix B: Trip Diary metrics and driver feedback variables from Payyanadan et al. (141)	.80
	Appendix C: Dorset County Council older driver course – training framework (140)	83

List of Figures

Figure 3.1: Proportion of older drivers reporting different methods of learning
AVT functionality and use, from LongROAD study data
Figure 4.1: The five-level driving hierarchy forming the basis for the Goals for Driver Education
Figure 4.2: Path diagram for the effects of stereotypes on feedback behaviour

List of Tables

Table 2.1: Definitions of errors observed using the eDOS	16
Table 3.1: Types of advanced vehicle technology by classification, adapted from Transport Canada Classifications	
Table 3.2: Definitions of level 2 and 3 automation (NHTSA)	27
Table 4.1: Highest influence statements	39
Table 4.2: Precaution Adoption Process Model	44
Table 4.3: Core components of social skills in traffic	46

Foreword

Keeping up with the latest developments in road safety thinking worldwide is a challenging task, and the safety of older drivers is no exception. Many countries around the world are grappling with the implications of an aging population – aging not just in the sense of older people making up a higher proportion of the population but aging also as life expectancy increases, meaning more of us expect to remain active well into older age. Increased longevity is challenging the very sense of what it means to be 'old'. For instance, according to DVLA records the number of people aged 90 or older holding a full driving licence in Great Britain already stands at 119,605 as of December 2019.

Dr Gandolfi's report tells us that while aging affects us as individuals in different ways, and at a different pace, some aspects of aging are inevitable – increased physical frailty and declining cognitive, physical and visual ability. These changes can both make us more vulnerable to more serious injury in the event of a collision and impair the skills we need as drivers. Hence we hear frequent calls for the introduction of compulsory re-testing for older drivers. But it is much easier to call for compulsory re-testing than it is to identify what form such re-testing should take.

This report reveals quite how hard it has proved to devise a test method that demonstrably reduces road safety risk, even when involving an extreme set of hurdles, as is the case for older Japanese drivers, who, after the age of 70, are required to take part in an education session, several vision tests and an on-road driving assessment. As Dr Gandolfi says: "Given the obvious challenges involved in creating a standardised, objective driver assessment that facilitates targeted interventions capable of helping older drivers to self-regulate effectively, it is necessary to turn attention to the resources that are readily available to assist older drivers in calibrating their own self-awareness and implementing appropriate self-regulatory behaviours."

In other words, we need to do all we can to make it easier for us to help ourselves. And that's particularly important when it comes to the design of in-car systems. The good news here is that in addition to an array of safety features designed to protect car occupants in the event of a collision, modern cars also offer an increasing wealth of driver-assist technology, gradually trickling down from high-end vehicles to the smaller, more affordable models. The challenge comes in making these systems easier to understand and operate, ideally making them so intuitive that recourse to the owner's manual only needs to be a last resort. Overall the key message is that it's important for us all to self-regulate ourselves and our driving as we get older, and that means getting regular health check-ups and eye tests long before we might start thinking of ourselves as being 'old'.

Steve Gooding

Director, RAC Foundation

List of Abbreviations

AAA	American Automobile Association
AD	Alzheimer's disease
ADAS	advanced driver assistance systems
AV	autonomous vehicle
AVT	advanced vehicle technology
GDE	Goals for Driver Education
HAV	highly automated vehicle
HMI	human-machine interface
MCI	mild cognitive impairment
NHTSA	National Highway Traffic Safety Administration
OSCAR	'Outil de sensibilisation des conducteurs âgés aux capacités requises pour une conduite automobile sécuritaire et responsable' – literally 'Tool for the education of older drivers about the capabilities required for safe and responsible driving': an awareness tool for safe and responsible driving
OSCARPA	An adaptation of OSCAR for relatives of older drivers ('PA' referring to caregivers, French 'proches aidants')
PAPM	Precaution Adoption Process Model
RST	Reinforcement Sensitivity Theory
TOR	takeover request
UFOV	Useful Field of View
VMC	visual-motor co-ordination

v

1. Introduction



This report sets out to examine the current literature on age-related driver impairment relationships between vehicle technology and driver stress and confidence, and the effectiveness of interventions intended to mitigate the riskincreasing effects of age-related declines in physical and cognitive processes.

An earlier review, published by the RAC Foundation in 2010, studied the role of infrastructure in older driver risk, and concluded (1: 139) that:

"there are key older-driver issues which are consistently problematic in a wide variety of traffic situations, i.e. visual problems, cognitive processing speed, cognitive overload, perceptual errors/confusion, mobility issues, frailty, etc. These factors have an impact on older driver risk in each of the areas investigated. This raises a rather fundamental question – is it practical to attempt to adapt the traffic environment to meet the needs of the older driver, or should the focus be on trying to equip the older driver to deal with the existing traffic environment more efficiently? It is likely that the optimal solution would involve both approaches."

Over the last decade, much of the focus in the field of driver risk management has shifted onto the role of the driver as the architect of their own risk profile, and the importance of self-evaluation and self-development has been emphasised. For older drivers, their risk profile is situationally skewed by age-related declines, but effective self-regulation strategies can nevertheless mitigate those risks. This report consequently focuses on the risk-increasing factors that affect older drivers; how their interaction with emerging vehicle technology can help to mitigate these risks; and what tools and strategies are available to maximise self-awareness, and thereby support the selection and implementation of timely and effective self-regulation processes.

2. Age-Related Impairment



This chapter focuses on the literature around the relationship between key age-related declines and driving problems, and presents the current position on how to effectively measure these declines, in order to ensure that effective interventions can be implemented to minimise older drivers' risk on the road.

2.1 Background

It is estimated that the proportion of people aged over 60 will almost double globally by 2050, from 11–12% to 21–22% (2, 3), with 12% (one billion people) classified as older adults by 2030 (4). Many authors have noted that the number of licensed drivers falling into the 'older driver' category has already increased significantly in the last 30 years (5–7). The proportion of older drivers is currently highest in developed countries, standing for example at 26.6% in Japan and 14.9% in the USA in 2015 (8). The US National Center for Statistics and Analysis (9) reported a 33% increase between 2006 and 2015, to 40.1 million older drivers.

Road crashes are responsible for a million deaths per year across the world among people over 60 (10). Mortality rates can be twice as high for this group as for younger adults (11). Fatality statistics showed that 17% of road deaths in Canada involved older people (over 65), whereas they accounted for only 14% of the population (12).

People who are entering the older driver category now and in the future expect to continue driving independently (13, 14). Canadian figures indicated 75% of older people hold a driving licence, and 16% of those are over 85 (12). Private cars are likely to remain the preferred transport option for these 'new' older drivers, who will travel more than previous generations of older people (15). This preference will combine with the increases in the older population to significantly increase older drivers' exposure on the road (16, 17).

It is well known that whilst older people have relatively few crashes in absolute terms compared with other age groups, they have the highest risk of serious injury and death in the event of a crash, on account of their frailty (18, 19). Older drivers are less consistent in their driving performance (20), and this is attributed to age-related sensory, cognitive, and physical impairments (15, 18, 19); therefore the crash rate increases substantially after the age of 75 (21), and at-fault casualty crashes are significantly more prevalent among drivers aged 80 and over (22).

The pattern is quite consistent across the developed world. Between 2003 and 2012, Australia saw an increase in the number of older drivers, but crash, serious injury and fatality numbers remained static for 65- to 84-year olds and actually increased for the oldest group (85+), while younger driver numbers also increased but crashes, serious injuries and fatalities amongst them either remained steady or decreased (23). In Queensland specifically, in 2014–15 the 60–74 age group accounted for 17.9% of the licensed population and 6.5% of fatalities, while those aged 75 and over comprised 5.3% of licence holders but accounted for 10.9% of the fatalities (24); moreover, drivers aged 80 years and older were most likely to be at fault in crashes, regardless of the crash severity (22).

Research from the USA (25) using crash data from 1975 to 2008 found reductions in fatal crashes involving older people despite increased exposure, from 18% in 1997–99 to 14–15% in 2006–8, a reduction attributed to the success of road safety initiatives, and a finding that was replicated by other US studies (26–28). A 37% reduction in fatal crashes involving drivers over 70 observed in one US study far exceeded the 23% decrease among the 35–54 age group (26). Greater reductions in the fatality risk for older drivers reflect a reduced crash risk as a result of improved road infrastructure and vehicle technology, and greater survivability owing to medical advances and improved vehicle protection (23).

In the UK there are around 8 million people over 70; 5.3 million of those are over 75, accounting for 8% of the UK population (29). Of UK adults, 74% have a driving licence (30) and the Office for National Statistics estimates that over 9 million people will be aged 75 and over by 2035, accounting for 12.5% of the UK population (29). Research in the UK on fatalities between 1975 to 2010 indicated that despite an increase in the older driver population, their fatality rate has decreased substantially (21). Other research from Great Britain by the Road Safety Foundation (2016) also found that total fatalities, fatalities per licensed driver, and fatalities per distance driven had decreased between 1995 and 2014

for drivers aged 70 (31). As with the US studies, the improvements were attributed to road safety measures, and it was noted that the substantial wealth of experience gathered by drivers who may have been driving for over 50 years would help them to deal with difficulties associated with age-related declines in cognitive, visual and perceptual functioning (21).

The evidence shows that people are driving further, and for longer into their old age, and doing so more safely than ever before; but ultimately there comes a point where many people are unable to drive safely and must therefore make the decision to give up driving. This is one of the hardest decisions for older people (32), as driving is so fundamental to one's sense of independence and freedom, and is in turn intrinsically linked to quality of life (33, 34). Driving has been found to be a key determinant of older people's social engagement and family involvement (12). Driving cessation is linked to negative outcomes such as reduced social interaction, poorer health and depression (35–37).

The difficulty in judging the most appropriate point for giving up driving comes from the need to balance the personal and social benefits of driving against how well he or she can cope with the demands imposed by such a complex task – a balance that will be different for every individual and which will inevitably change over time. The driving task requires strength, co-ordination, flexibility, visual acuity, attention, memory, decision-making and judgement (38), all of which can be affected by age-related declines, thus increasing risk.

2.2 Cognitive impairment

There are well-established concerns pertaining to crash risk in older drivers with poor or declining visual, cognitive and physical function (39, 40). Mild cognitive impairment (MCI) has been a key focus over the last 20 years, and concerns the area of declining cognitive abilities lying somewhere between the normal range and dementia (41); the prevalence of MCI in European countries is estimated to range from 5% to 36% (42). It is important to understand exactly how these declines affect on-road driving, the impact they have on crash risk, and how (or, indeed whether) older drivers are modifying their driving to compensate for the effects of MCI (43). Some of the initial research has painted a somewhat alarming picture about the lack of adaptive strategies and self-regulation among MCI drivers – for example, finding that drivers with cognitive impairment are twice as likely to be involved in at at-fault crash than diabetic drivers, and three times as likely as drivers without either condition (44). However, the relationships identified between impairment and crash risk have been inconsistent between studies; for example, the small number of naturalistic longitudinal studies have indicated equivalent or lower crash risk for drivers with cognitive impairment, indicating the presence of adaptive strategies (45).

A recent Australian study found that around 90% of drivers with cognitive impairment reported driving less than 100 km per week, and 67% reported that their average distance driven was less than 5 km per journey (46); while a French study concluded that self-reported cognitive difficulties were the best predictors of driver avoidance, surpassing as an indicator even speeding, failing to give way and braking too quickly (47). In the USA, research indicated that driving difficulty increased at a greater rate for drivers with MCI, and

that they reported reducing their frequency of driving in challenging situations (48). Drivers with MCI have also been found to report greater discomfort while driving, and to avoid driving at night, or on motorways, or in unfamiliar areas –this being linked to awareness of declines in ability among those who have problems with night vision, memory and cognitive processing (49). The evidence suggests that self-awareness of functional decline may encourage adaptive behaviour in drivers with MCI, particularly in situations that they find more demanding (46).

Whilst high levels of driving experience are associated with greater situational awareness, declines in cognition may have a negative effect on situational awareness and processing speed (50). This concept has not been widely investigated in the literature to date (17), but studies show poorer situational awareness in drivers aged over 65 years than in those in the 18–25 age group (51), and it has been suggested that this is linked to declines in cognitive, sensory, and motor functioning (50, 52). It has been hypothesised (53: 2) that:

"a 'U' shaped curve may exist whereby young drivers display lower situational awareness compared to mature drivers, and senior drivers decline in situation awareness when experience is no longer able to compensate for neurodegeneration."

Studies focusing on the specific aspects of cognition associated with crash risk among older drivers have found strong associations between visual attention, executive function and risk (54, 55). A study of MCI drivers has revealed significant error rates and delays in comprehending phonological information, indicating that these are early signs of deterioration which can be detected when drivers are still active and no major on-road deterioration is apparent (42). The authors concluded that deterioration might become evident when it is necessary to communicate behavioural intention while preparing for a manoeuvre, for example when approaching a turn across opposing traffic – a situation which represents one of the greatest risks for older drivers, who are constantly over-represented in angle collisions, crashes at intersections, turning, and changing lanes (56, 57). When turning, older drivers focused on their own turning behaviour and the structure of the roadway, while middle-aged drivers focused on the changing behaviours of other road users ahead of them in the traffic, suggesting that older drivers prioritise their attention differently during turn manoeuvres, something that may be a product of cognitive differences (53).

In addition to difficulties making turns across the flow of traffic, MCI has been linked with difficulty maintaining speed within the speed limit, failure to respond to stop signs, failure to monitor traffic, and difficulties maintaining lane positioning (46), and slower reaction times may lead older drivers to need to brake heavily (58). However, studies have indicated that older drivers with lower baseline function were less likely to be involved in speeding events (59), which is consistent with previous findings suggesting that they display more caution, self-restriction or avoidance with increasing age (60, 61).

Understanding the cognitive characteristics associated with older driver risk has important implications for safe mobility in older adults, as it can inform educational efforts to mitigate

the risks of age-related cognitive declines (62). Driving assessments focused on the factors that differentiate higher- from lower-risk drivers would enable targeted intervention strategies to be employed so as to enhance driving competencies and reduce risk (63).

2.2.1 Assessing cognitive impairment

Currently no single cognitive test has demonstrated the ability to distinguish safe older drivers from unsafe ones; with this in mind, it should be noted that caution is required when attempting to use cognitive tools to predict older driver risk (63–65), as research using cognitive predictors of older driver performance found the proportion of variance explained is both low and variable (66–68). However, other research has also indicated that high-demand driving tasks may be affected early in the onset of cognitive impairment, and corresponding deterioration can be seen in assessments of executive control, so it may be possible to use these as a pre-assessment, albeit not as a sole measure (42) of decline.

Cognitive tests have been used in attempts to assess older driver capability for a number of years; one such is the Trail Making Test, a measure of general cognitive function and executive functioning involving a timed task in which the participant must search for and connect letters and numbers in a sequential order. A time of more than 180 seconds has been reported to indicate increased crash risk (69), but evidence of deterioration has been found in drivers with times exceeding 120 seconds (70). Other measures include the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA), in which scores of less than 26 out of 30 suggest MCI (71). Selective attention (UFOV 3), spatial ability (Block Design) and executive function (D-KEFS TMT 5) have been established as optimal measures of visual–motor co-ordination (VMC) (72).

There appears to be a deficit in research directly linking performance on cognitive tests with actual on-road risk outcomes. It is likely that the associations are not clear-cut owing to the huge number of other variables affecting older driver risk, not least variations in self-awareness and corresponding adaptive behaviours. However, some measures are more well established than others in the literature as valid measures of older driver capability, particularly the Useful Field of View (UFOV) test, discussed in section 2.2.2.

Simulated driving offers an opportunity to overcome some of the challenges involved in linking tests that are not directly related to the driving task with on-road performance, and recent studies have shown strong correlations between simulated driving and on-road driving performance of older drivers who have reduced functional and driving abilities (5). This will be discussed further in Chapter 4.

2.2.2 Useful Field Of View

The UFOV test was developed to measure age-related changes in the functional visual field that could not be identified or measured by means of standard ophthalmic tests; it is best described, though, as a measure of efficient processing of visual information (73), and it is widely recognised as a good predictor of older drivers' on-road performance (74).

The UFOV is the area of visual focus observed without head or eye movement. The smaller the UFOV, the lower the driver's capacity to observe safety-critical hazards emerging from the periphery of his or her vision (75). Visual search efficiency declines with age, particularly

in terms of (a) ability to divide attention between the central focus and the periphery, (b) preventing a return to already searched locations in favour of unsearched ones (inhibition of return), and (c) switching attention between tasks in a timely manner – all of which are critical to the driving task (76). Older drivers with declines in UFOV were found to be twice as likely to cause crashes over five years, even when they were aware of the declines and consequently implemented self-regulatory behaviours (77).

UFOV impairment has also been found to be reliably associated with difficulties in estimating time to collision, so among highly impaired drivers, even when a hazard is observed, it is not processed effectively in terms of threat evaluation (75). Attentional deficits measured by UFOV tests are also associated with difficulties maintaining lane positioning (63), lane change errors and failing to stop at red lights (78). These difficulties can be exacerbated by the effect of the traffic environment at the time, such as perceived pressure from other drivers to make a manoeuvre in a timely manner (79); this means that driver assistance systems may be useful in reducing the demand on the driver and thus preventing further inflation of the risk-increasing effects of UFOV declines (75).

2.3 Workload

The impact of the increased workload that is placed on older drivers by challenging driving situations has been established as being measurable by changes to their eye movements and their visual scanning capacity (80), which has been attributed to a requirement for more effort to support performance to compensate for cognitive declines. Older people disengage from tasks at lower difficulty levels than younger people, and they require more effort to perform cognitively demanding tasks, but the amount of effort they put in is determined more by their *perception* of the difficulty of the task and of their ability to meet its demands, than by the *actual* difficulty of the task (81).

Junctions are a key focus of the older driver literature, owing to the prevalence of at-fault intersection collisions, which is attributed to attentional demands arising from complexity of environment, time pressure, and increased mental workload (75). In the USA in 2016, 37% of all fatal crashes involving drivers over 65 were intersection incidents, compared with 20% for crashes in which no driver was over 65. According to US research, particularly high-risk manoeuvres are: turning across opposing traffic, merging from a slip road, and changing lanes on a highway (82); this is a consequence of the complexity of perceptual and cognitive processes involved in gap selection and acceptance processes, and the requirement of older drivers for longer time for perception–reaction (83).

Driving at peak times of day has been reported as increasing at-fault crash risk in older drivers by over 40%, owing to the demands imposed by higher traffic volumes and more frequent and faster interactions seen at such times, all of which exacerbate cognitive workload and worsen task-induced fatigue (83).

There is evidence that older drivers subconsciously engage in enhanced stereotyping as a strategy for reducing cognitive workload, as stereotypes are a type of well-established schemata stored in long-term memory which provide a mental shortcut to evaluating a situation; but this stereotyping can cause higher levels of bias in people with greater cognitive decline, which can in turn lead to perceptual errors (84). Older people can overcome the effects of bias arising from particular stereotypes, but they require more effort to do so (85), thus negating the benefits that using stereotypes may offer.

Increases in cognitive workload have been associated with slow cognitive processing and delayed response times, and this increases crash risk, particularly when workload is increased by distractions that are not directly related to the driving task; older drivers who experience declines in processing speed in a situation that divides their attention are thus more susceptible to distraction-related crashes (86).

Older drivers have also been found to be most susceptible (of all age groups) to in-vehicle distractions, such as mobile phones, passengers, eating and drinking and smoking (87), although they were relatively unlikely to actually use electronic devices when driving – this, however, may be attributable to generational differences, so an increase in older drivers' engaging with electronics while driving might be observed in forthcoming years (88). Interaction with pets was one of the three most commonly reported contributors to crashes or near misses, and a positive but non-significant association was found between driving with pets and crashes (after adjusting for age of driver) (86).

2.4 Dementia

Dementia refers to a group of diseases in which nerve cells in the brain die or no longer function normally (89). Cognitive function exists on a continuum, ranging from normal functioning to severe dementia, with points at which mild and severe dementia can be diagnosed. Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common type of dementia, with US statistics indicating that one in nine people over 65 suffer with the condition – a proportion which increases with age (9).

Complex tasks – for example when dealing with navigation instructions or complex junctions – have a particularly strong effect on AD drivers: they fail to adapt their decision-making strategies to the situation in hand, leading to higher frequencies of random decisions (90). When compared with younger and healthy older drivers, AD patients showed poorer performance in making turns across the flow of traffic, but the deficits were much more marked in complex junction situations than in simple ones (91).

Studies have indicated that drivers with dementia are cognitively slower than healthy older people (91), and they are between two-and-a-half and five times more likely to be involved in a collision as drivers without dementia (92, 93), which raises questions concerning ways to evaluate the point at which drivers should no longer be permitted to drive, and how to identify areas in which risk-mitigation measures can be employed to support them in their desire to continue driving safely for as long as possible. Research has investigated the extent to which dementia screening measures can be used to assess driving abilities, but these tests have limited validity and sensitivity in the driving context, and therefore do not discriminate adequately to be a useful indicator of on-road risk (94).

Some studies have indicated that people diagnosed with dementia actually have a lower crash risk than other older drivers, which has been explained in terms of either self-regulatory behaviour or regulation imposed by carers after diagnosis, resulting in changes in driving choices – including decreased driving exposure¹ – which offset the risks associated with cognitive declines (45). A study comparing AD patients with age-matched controls reported 45% lower self-reported weekly mileage in the AD group (95), although of course inaccuracies in self-reported mileage may be particularly strong among AD patients (96).

2.5 Visual problems

Static visual acuity, contrast sensitivity and the extent of visual fields all decline with age, and may all affect driving abilities (96). Ophthalmic tests can be used to measure the extent of deterioration and thus corresponding risk, for example scores of 1.25 or less on the Pelli-Robson chart for contrast sensitivity (97) have been found to represent severe deficits which may be indicative of increased crash risk (98).

Recent Australian research reported that declining contrast sensitivity and lower driving confidence were both associated with higher frequencies of rapid deceleration events in older drivers, and concluded that deficits in visual function can affect driving safety (58), which is consistent with earlier findings linking declines in contrast sensitivity to crash risk. This finding is in agreement with other research that has found associations between poor contrast sensitivity and increased crash risk (98, 99).

With every 13 years that passes from the age of 20, drivers require twice as much light to drive safely, so a 72-year-old needs 16 times as much as a 20-year-old (100) and a 65-year-old's eye may let in just a third as much light as that of a 20-year-old under low-light conditions; in combination with declines in cognitive processes which optimise dark and light adaptation, and higher rates of age-related eye diseases (such as cataracts, glaucoma, diabetic retinopathy and macular degeneration), this poses significant challenges for older drivers (76). These effects can be seen not just when driving in darkness, but also in wet weather conditions, which reduce visibility through rain, spray and dim ambient lighting (83, 101). Age effects on night vision led US researchers to expect a positive correlation between age and use of high-beam headlights, but in fact the oldest drivers were found to report the *lowest* rates of high-beam usage (27%, as compared with 37% for middle-aged and 49% for younger drivers), which was explained in terms of changes in driver education which, in this age of improved headlight technology, no longer focuses on the risks of headlight glare to oncoming vehicles (88).

Drivers with lower visual function drive fewer miles than those with higher visual function (102, 103), and declines in contrast sensitivity seen in over-70s has been linked with driving cessation (104), which may be considered to reveal adaptive strategies in response to age-related declines, although concerns exist about whether lower exposure provokes deterioration of driving skills (58). The extent to which reduced levels of driving hinders the driver's ability to self-monitor progressive deterioration are also unclear.

¹ The term 'driving exposure' encompasses an overall assessment of how much driving is being done, and can include total distance travelled, the radius of travel from home, the average trip distance, and how much nighttime driving is done.

2.6 Personality and affect

The personalities and attitudes of older drivers have been widely linked to self-reported risky driving and to crash involvement (105), but the nature of the links is not straightforward, as not all aspects of driving are influenced by personality factors in the same way (106). One study identified an association between sensation-seeking and risky driving in older drivers, using a driving simulator (107). Most research in this area has focused on the Five-Factor Model (108), with Extraversion linked to poorer on-road driving performance in older drivers (106), and in other studies to continuation of driving (109); the weakness of the associations suggest that whilst a relationship between Extraversion and driving self-regulation among older drivers does exist, demographic, psychosocial and cognitive measures may have substantially more influence (110). The Reinforcement Sensitivity Theory model of personality (111) finds its basis in neuroscience, and focuses on the existence of two distinct neurological systems: one controlling avoidance behaviours (the Behavioural Inhibition System) and the other approach behaviours (the Behavioural Activation System (BAS)), which determine 'reinforcement sensitivity' - the magnitude of the effect of reward and punishment on behaviour. The relationship between reinforcement sensitivity and self-reported driving indicates that personality differences do affect older drivers' selfassessment, and in turn their self-regulation and cessation processes (5).

Whilst emotions and emotional distress do not directly affect driving performance, they compete for the cognitive resources needed for safe driving, and compromise decision-making capabilities (112). The relationships between self-reported emotion and subjective driving performance in older adults has been examined, and greater emotional distress was found to be related to aberrant driving behaviours (113).

Driving anxiety is commonplace among older people, with studies indicating that 17–20% are affected (114), and driving anxiety is widely cited as a reason for driving cessation, to the point that it is linked to over-zealous self-regulation, unnecessarily restricting driving (115). Simulator studies have found that anxious drivers suffer greater performance impairments as task demand increases (116), and this is consistent with findings from studies that rely on self-report behaviours (117, 118).

There has been little research investigating the relationship between other common emotional symptoms (i.e. aside from anxiety) and driving performance in older people, which has led some researchers to raise questions as to whether other emotional symptoms may be partially responsible for the high crash risk and self-reported driving difficulties often observed in older adults (113, 119). However, there is some evidence that emotional symptoms associated with negative thinking in older adults have been shown to redirect cognitive resources needed for driving to alternative stimuli (113). Studies have found that older people with agoraphobia, social phobia and driving-related anxiety display adaptive behaviours, particularly driving less frequently, using alternative modes of transport, and driving at times they perceive as lower-risk – hence the process of fear avoidance reduces their exposure, and therefore reduces their overall risk (114). Confidence among older drivers has been shown to vary dramatically, typically reducing with age and functional declines (101), with decreasing confidence noted as a key factor in avoidance of difficult driving situations such as driving at night or in bad weather (120), and ultimately in driving cessation (121). However, subjective discomfort during driving may have a greater impact on driving avoidance than objective self-awareness (122), and self-regulation based on lack of confidence, as opposed to self-awareness, is concerning (94), because drivers with low confidence have been found to be nearly twice as likely to be crash-involved as a result of the adoption of overly cautious driving styles (123). This discomfort can result in unnecessary driving restrictions, whereas they could continue to drive quite safely by adopting effective coping strategies such as journey planning or assistive vehicle modifications (124). Gender differences in perceptions of driving competency and self-regulatory practices have been widely reported (125–127) with older women reporting lower driving confidence, more willingness to accept changes in their driving habits, and more likelihood of voluntarily reducing their driving or stopping altogether.

2.7 Self-report

Older drivers, like all drivers, tend to overestimate their driving ability and thereby underestimate their risk. Studies have shown that 85% of older drivers rate themselves as either good or excellent drivers, regardless of their crash or violation history (121). This is likely to introduce bias into the way they self-report both their own behaviour and other variables such as their crash history. Research conducted in the 1990s indicated that there were substantial discrepancies between self-reported collision involvement rates and the rates indicated by official records, but the relationship between the two is not always clearcut, and variations in findings may be linked to methodological differences.

For example, a US study of 53 older drivers focusing on police-reported accidents over the preceding five years found that 12 out of 18 drivers with recorded incidents did not report them in the study (128), while another looked at 175 drivers with collisions on the official record indicating that the police had attended, in which 64 had a crash in the official record which they did not report in the study (129), leading the authors to conclude that self-report was not an appropriate method for identifying crash-involved drivers. By way of contrast, a more recent study of self-reporting of police-attended collisions indicated substantial agreement between self-reports and official records (130).

Other studies have looked at self-reports compared with crash rates recorded by insurance providers, including one published in 2018 which found that older drivers self-reported almost 31% *more* collisions during the study than appeared on the insurance record (5), a finding consistent with those from earlier studies (131, 132).

This discrepancy may be linked to the extent of the damage related to the collision, or the absence of third parties; or it may be influenced by the risk of increased insurance costs associated with reporting a collision to an insurer even if it does not result in a claim (which might lead a driver to acknowledge an accident to researchers that they concealed from their insurer). These effects were, however, consistent across the older driver group, with no

increases seen among the 'oldest old' (133). The authors note that it would be interesting to examine age-related differences in self-reporting of non-claim collisions across all age groups, and they observe that among the few instances whereby collisions on the official record were not reported in the study, confusion over timings, memory or self-presentation issues may be responsible, rather than consciously introduced self-report bias (134).

This raises the question as to whether self-report measures can be relied upon as indicators of older driver risk, and whether reliability depends on the nature of the measure. Reporting of incidents appears to show variation in accuracy, but, as noted above, this may be affected by age-related declines. However, measures focusing on personality and affect, rather than recall, might not be influenced in the same way.

Studies have confirmed that the relationship between self-report driving measures and personality factors applies to older drivers with reduced functional abilities (5), and the discrepancy between self-reported and actual driving has been attributed to the influence of personality factors such as impulsivity on older drivers' self-reporting behaviour (135). A study using on-road driving assessments as an objective measure of driving behaviour did not establish any links between self-reported sensation-seeking and driving (106).

The effects of self-report bias are also clear in relation to reports of executive functioning, with studies showing that self-reported executive functioning was correlated with personality, but not to objective measures of executive functioning, suggesting that personality factors affect self-reporting accuracy in older drivers – for example, those high in Conscientiousness might have higher self-awareness and produce more negative self-report assessments, while drivers high in Neuroticism are also likely to be more negative in their self-assessments (136). Equally, sensitivity to reward and punishment may affect self-report behaviour, as drivers with high reinforcement sensitivity may be unwilling to report incidents (5).

An inability to make accurate self-assessments can not only impact the results of self-report measures, but also impede the development of appropriate self-regulation behaviour, since self-awareness is critical in the process of making judgements about the requirement for adjustments, and making relevant decisions about what those changes should be. The benefits of driving into older age are well documented, as are the negative effects of restriction and cessation of driving, including social isolation and depression (137). Self-regulation is often perceived as synonymous with driving cessation, but in actual fact appropriate modification of driving habits in response to declines in functional abilities is the core of successful self-regulation (138). Studies have shown that older drivers often self-regulate spontaneously, with some studies reporting that the extent of age-related functional declines are associated with reduced mileage (102), and others finding effects for just age (59). These changes are attributed to lifestyle changes as well as age-related functional changes (43). The tendency to self-regulate driving is influenced by factors including personal interests, improving or maintaining self-esteem, and self-definition (139), which may introduce self-assessment bias – which may, in turn, influence self-regulation and driving cessation (5).

In addition, older drivers' self-regulation behaviour creates exposure patterns which are different from the overall driving population. In the USA in 2012, older drivers were 75% more likely than younger drivers to be involved in a two-vehicle crash between 14.00 and 18.00

and during daylight (140), which was attributed to their preference for driving during the day (141). Drivers aged 80 and over have been found to avoid driving in bad weather, on busy roads, and on unfamiliar roads to a greater extent than younger drivers, and even to a greater extent than those in the 75–79 age group (142). Moreover, older drivers use motorway-type roads significantly less often than younger drivers, and avoid right turns while driving on the left (and left turns when driving on the right), although their increasing reliance on navigational assistance technology may be reducing their tendency to seek alternative routes to avoid such traffic situations (87). US statistics indicate left-turn crashes (i.e. turning across the flow of traffic) were substantially elevated among older drivers, an effect that increased with advancing age within the older driver group (140), whereas their representation in crashes that involved driving straight, passing and overtaking was no different to that of other age groups – a finding attributed to their self-regulation, and to avoidance of manoeuvres that they perceived as higher risk or that could reasonably be avoided (143).

Despite the prevalence of self-regulation, it is clear that a proportion of older drivers do not self-regulate, even in the face of age-related declines, something that has been attributed in part to diseases and cognitive declines themselves interfering with the ability to self-assess (61) – although studies on self-reported driving indicate that dementia sufferers tend to follow guidelines on limiting or giving up driving (45). Self-regulation will be discussed in more detail later in this report.

2.8 Measures

2.8.1 Telemetry

Given the challenges associated with self-reports of factors indicative of older driver behaviour and risk, it is possible that more-objective measures may provide valuable insights into the actual driving performance of older drivers. Advances in the sophistication and availability of in-vehicle telematics systems mean that they may now offer an easily implemented and low-cost way of identifying risk patterns in the driving profiles of older people, which can be used to steer appropriate education and regulation – and, ultimately, cessation. In recent years, studies have been conducted utilising these technologies to gain insight into older driver risk and avoid the subjective influence of self-reports, or the ecological validity problems associated with simulator studies (87).

2.8.1.1 G-force

Acceleration and deceleration behaviour has been found to be a more accurate predictor of crash involvement in bus drivers than speeding, particularly for at-fault crashes (144, 145). Naturalistic driving studies have linked rapid evasive driving manoeuvres, particularly braking responses, to near misses (146, 147).

Much of the telematics research has used G-force data as the key measure of driving behaviour, and the majority of systems record an 'event' when a predetermined G-force threshold is breached. The challenge lies in setting these thresholds appropriately, so that

they are sufficiently sensitive to detect risky behaviours, but not so sensitive that the events become 'noise'. The US 100-Car Study developed algorithms using G-force measures in conjunction with dashcam video footage, and found that those involved in crashes and near misses decelerated at in excess of 0.3 G more frequently than uninvolved or rarely involved drivers (148), while others have set thresholds as low as 0.15 G (146). A similar process has been undertaken by the Strategic Highway Research Program 2 focusing on steering, deceleration and acceleration (145). A deceleration rate of 0.49 G has been described thus (149: 2):

"...the driver would feel like they were thrown forward towards the steering wheel and the load in the vehicle would shift to the front of the vehicle. Objects placed on the seat unrestrained would probably be thrown to the floor."

A deceleration of 0.75 G slows a vehicle by 16.5 mph each second, so would bring a car from 33 mph to stationary in two seconds, while a front-end collision is likely to measure several G (58).

The 100-Car Study data reported that events exceeding 0.7 G were infrequent, but were more frequent among drivers categorised as 'unsafe' on other measures; this suggests that events breaching high thresholds represent more extreme behaviours and therefore may be a more valid proxy measure of crash risk than events breaching thresholds set at more moderate levels (149), which is consistent with conclusions drawn by other researchers (58, 150). However, there is some ambiguity in the findings relating to telematics data. For example, one study focused on deceleration events exceeding 0.35 G over the course of a week, using a sample of 1,425 drivers aged 67 to 87 years (151). Drivers with lower mileage had higher rates of events, but also better vision and cognition – a finding that might be explicable could be explained in terms of thresholds, sample sizes or monitoring periods, but which suggests that further study of deceleration event patterns in older drivers may be required (58).

Many telematics systems provide high volumes of data, but this data needs to be processed appropriately in order to detect true events. The 100-Car Study used data collected at around 32 points per second; because of this high frequency, no further events were recorded within three seconds of an event threshold being breached, in order to avoid the frequency of false-positive events being recorded (152).

2.8.1.2 Speed

Speed is a key measure that can be gathered from telematics systems and then analysed to contribute to understanding of older driver risk, although it has been noted that there is a lack of research evidence explaining the relationship between speeding and self-regulation (153). A study analysing a week of driving data from older drivers reported that cognitive and visual function, driving behaviour and attitudes were not predictive of speeding events by distance driven (154). A randomised control trial evaluating the effectiveness of an education programme for older drivers in Australia gathered data from a cohort of drivers aged over 75 (with a median age of 80 years) across a 12-month period, and found that speeding

behaviour was highly common, with almost all participants involved in speeding events (59), which is consistent with previous research using naturalistic driving measures (155, 156).

Despite the frequency of speeding being high, the magnitude by which the limit is exceeded tends to be low, with most events involving low-level speeding of between 1 km/h and 9 km/h over the speed limit (59). Older drivers report making an effort to comply with speed limits, and say that speeding is most often due to an involuntary error, which is consistent with findings relating to other common traffic violations such as going through traffic lights that are in the process of changing to red, or not actually stopping at a stop sign (157). A French study showed that speed limit compliance is a particular area of focus for older drivers, owing to the stringency of speeding enforcement in France; this means that they are highly aware of the risk of unintentional speeding affecting their licence status, and, consequently, their mobility. Factors identified as exacerbating task difficulty were unfamiliarity of route, and frequent changes of speed limit, as these mean they have to exert more effort in attending to the driving task in order to avoid unintentional speeding, which impacts on task performance (157). Despite a general perception (and some research evidence which backs it up) that older drivers are predisposed to driving slowly, some studies have not found any support for this relationship; indeed, some have found that older drivers travel faster than younger drivers on certain road types, but the unintentional nature of the violation means that encouraging older drivers to pay more attention to their driving speed may reduce the frequency of their speeding incidents (87).

2.8.1.3 Lane position

Measures of lateral lane positioning may also be indicative of driver impairment (158), as studies have shown that older drivers experience difficulties in lane (position) maintenance under challenging driving conditions (159), although other researchers conclude that there is little evidence of a relationship between cognitive functions and lane maintenance in older drivers (160). Nonetheless it has been argued that lane positioning is more safety-critical than speed for older drivers (161); comprehensive and reliable tracking data can be gathered, which is sensitive to variation in driving performance (162), and which can be analysed using traditional measures of central tendency – such as mean and standard deviation of lane position – in combination with variables such as lane departure counts (163).

2.8.1.4 Gaze tracking

Other types of telemetry have been used in attempts to measure older drivers' on-road risk, particularly combinations of eye-tracking data in combination with GPS location, to quantitatively analyse gaze behaviour at specific on-road locations and situations (164), using real on-road data, in order to draw conclusions about VMC (80). Using VMC as a performance measure can help identify operational deficits in older drivers, and in turn can guide coping strategies and tailored interventions focusing on a given driver's individual capabilities (72).

2.8.2 On-road assessments

Clinical measures have not proven to be a valid predictor of on-road driving behaviour in older drivers (165), so the identification of risky older drivers and their higher-risk behaviours using proxy measures remains a significant challenge (72). On-road assessments are regarded as the gold standard (166, 167), but these require standardisation in order to provide an objective measurement (168, 169). By ensuring that a representative range of traffic conditions is encountered, conditions that present an appropriate level of difficulty to the driver, competence can be evaluated as critical elements of driver behaviour can be observed (170). An observation schedule can be used for standardised reporting; one such is the eDOS (see Table 2.1), developed as part of the Candrive/Ozcandrive study, to record systematic and reliable observations which can provide comparative data both between drivers and over time for an individual driver (17; 171).

Driving behaviour	Error	Explanation
Observation of road environment: maintaining awareness of surroundings/environment	No mirror use	Non-use of rear- or side-view mirrors
Signalling: ability to signal intention to negotiate an intersection, lane change, merge and low speed manoeuvre	Inappropriate	Failure to use signal/leaving signal on after negotiating intersection, lane change, merge and low speed manoeuvre/use of incorrect signal
Speed regulation: adhering to posted speed limits, and regulating speed consistent with road/traffic	Too fast	Over limit or dangerous speed for manoeuvre
	Too slow	Too slowly (consistently; sign of overcautiouness)
Gap acceptance: making safe judgements about presence of other vehicles and selecting suitably risk-free point to pull into line of traffic, or cross one more lanes of traffic	Missed opportunity	Overcautious/missing opportunities
	Unsafe gap Failure to yield	Selecting unsafe gap Failing to yield (give right of way)
Road-rules compliance: ability to follow and appropriately respond to road	Non-compliance light/sun	Failing to comply with road sign/traffic light
signs, and not cross road markings	Crossing pavement	Crossing pavement marking to the extent of disturbing other road users
Vehicle/lane positioning: position of vehicle while moving or stopped, in	Out of lane	Drifting out of lane (with or without marked lanes)
accordance with side lane markings on a motorway	Hitting curb Inappropriate following distance	Hitting side curb Driving too close to vehicle in front

Table 2.1: Definitions of errors observed using the eDOS

Source: Koppel et al. (43)

The researchers in that study noted that the eDOS should be used to best effect on driverselected routes, which would thereby demonstrate their competency in their day-to-day environments, and that assessment should be carried out in their own vehicle (172). This level of personalisation enables assessment of driving that is representative of individuals' real-world experiences – but, of course, any personalised assessments are inherently nonstandardised (173). Using non-standardised tests offers customisation, which improves the ecological validity of the output for the driver in question (174), but reduces comparability between drivers, so whereas for research purposes standardisation is often desirable, for individual development purposes this may not be the case. It has been suggested that composite measures accounting for a range of cognitive abilities may be the strongest predictor of age-related declines in driving performance, as composites are broader and more reliable measures (63). This approach has been demonstrated in the Japanese older-driver licensing system, where after the age of 70 drivers must take part in: a lecture; a battery of driver aptitude tests involving simulator driving, field of vision, kinetic and night vision tests; an on-road driving assessment; a discussion session; and, for drivers over 75, a cognitive screening test. However, research has failed to find overwhelming support for the effectiveness of these measures in reducing at-fault collisions among older drivers (175–177).

3. Stress, Confidence and Technology



This section considers the impact of increasing vehicle technology on older drivers, and the corresponding changes in the relationship between older drivers and the vehicles that they drive.

3.1 Vehicle technology

Although older drivers are over-represented in fatal collision statistics, these rates have been falling, which has been attributed in part to improvements in vehicle design (178). Some changes have reduced drivers' visibility, such as increases in pillar size and rear dashboard height in newer vehicles (179), but for the most part the benefits appear to be outweighing the disadvantages. There is little more that can be done to improve the structural safety of vehicles, but the major areas where gains can be achieved are to be found in the constantly developing in-vehicle technologies that can assist all drivers, but which may be particularly beneficial for the older population, as they can offset some of the difficulties associated with functional declines (180–182).

Features that are already common in newer vehicles (such as reversing cameras and collision warning systems), and forthcoming technologies (such as increasingly autonomous vehicles), may help mitigate older driver risk (76). An analysis of research on the impact of advanced vehicle technologies (AVTs) on older drivers reported that they can indeed be of assistance, with benefits including avoidance of crashes and a reduction in their severity, as well as improved occupant protection (181).

Vehicle technologies currently cover a wide range of degrees of intervention, from provision of basic information to the ability to take full control of the vehicle. These have been categorised into a number of levels (183), whereby the lowest level (level 0) may involve assisting drivers via advanced driver assistance systems (ADAS), such as adaptive forward lighting systems, night vision systems, in-vehicle navigation systems and lane departure warnings. Level 1 systems can influence longitudinal or lateral control of the vehicle (but not both at the same time), and include systems such as adaptive cruise control and lane assist systems. Level 2 systems can take longitudinal and lateral control of the vehicle simultaneously, and are the first level at which the vehicle is effectively self-driving, although the driver must monitor the situation and prepare to retake control at any time. Level 3, Conditional Driving Automation, covers highly automated vehicles (HAVs), which would be self-driving - or autonomous - vehicles (AVs) which did not require constant readiness to retake control, but would sometimes require human driver input and reassignment of control to the driver. Level 4 systems (High Driving Automation) would initiate a safe mode if the driver was unable to resume control safely and in a timely manner, while level 5 vehicles would be fully self-driving and require no human control at all (184).

3.2 Advanced driver assistance systems – acceptance and usage

This section considers the nature of modern driver assistance systems, and the way in which older drivers are responding to them.

3.2.1 Assistive technologies

AVT can be of particular assistance in aspects of the driving task that older drivers often find difficult, for example identifying objects in blind spots, navigation, assistance in making turns across the flow of traffic, and identifying reduced headway or insufficient gaps for lane changing or overtaking – although all of these warnings and additional information streams may also act as distractions (100). See Table 3.1 for a broad indication of the types of AVTs currently available to older drivers.

Studies have indicated that whilst most older drivers have positive attitudes to ADAS, barriers to their adoption nevertheless exist, particularly regarding their complexity, safety and reliability concerns, and their affordability (138). However, older drivers are willing to engage with new technology, particularly if the benefits are clear (185), so in order to maximise take-up and to capitalise on the potential safety benefits of ADAS, it is important that appropriate training materials are developed, and that campaigns to raise awareness about the functionality, benefits and limitations of in-vehicle technologies are implemented (186).

Table 3.1: Types of advanced vehicle technology by classification, adapted fromTransport Canada Classifications

Classification	Type of AVT
/ehicle control	Roll stability control
	Traction control
	Brake assist
	Parking assist
	Adaptive cruise control
Warning and crash mitigation	Blind spot detection
	Forward collision warning and braking
	Lane departure warning
	Lane keeping assistance
	Cross-traffic detection
	Emergency response
/isibility	Advanced forward lighting systems
	Reversing cameras
	Night vision systems
	Pedestrian detection
Other driver assistance	Driver monitoring (including fatigue alert)
	Speed alert
	Tyre pressure monitor
	In-vehicle concierge ²
	Integrated Bluetooth telephony
	Navigation
	Voice control

Source: Adapted from Government of Canada (187) & Gish et al. (188)

Studies investigating factors which affect the adoption of AVTs among older drivers have found that whilst awareness of AVTs is relatively high, actual experience of using them is fairly low (189), and also that there is a tendency for perceived usefulness ratings to be low, increasing the tendency of older drivers to reject them. However, whilst age-related changes are not a prevalent reason for purchasing vehicles with AVTs, once they had gained experience with them, the older drivers felt that the technologies were helpful when driving, with the highest score of perceived utility (64%) being related to collision warning systems that alert the driver in response to a bad decision or risky behaviour (157).

The LongROAD study (the *Longitudinal Research on Aging Drivers* study by the American Automobile Association) reported AVTs in nearly 60% of older drivers' vehicles, with the

² An In-vehicle concierge is a system that that can recommend nearby restaurants, filling stations and the like, and in some cases can adjust heating and other aspects of the in-car environment by voice control.

most commonly reported being integrated Bluetooth telephony, reversing/parking assist, navigation, voice control, in-vehicle concierge² and blind spot warning (8). The results also indicated that higher levels of income and education were associated with greater incidence of technologies, which can be attributed to the presence of more of technology in more expensive vehicles, and the affordability of extras among the wealthier segment of the older driver group. The same study also reported that over half the AVTs present were always or often used, with the most frequently used cited as blind spot warning, fatigue/drowsy driver alert, and forward collision warning systems; the least used were semi-autonomous parking assist, in-vehicle concierge, voice control, and adaptive cruise control. The authors explain the high use of certain AVTs in terms of the default vehicle settings, as vehicle manufacturers design these kinds of systems to activate automatically. They also point out that AVTs added to the vehicle at additional cost are more likely to be used, particularly on vehicles owned or operated from new, otherwise the older drivers would not have specified them as extras when ordering the vehicle (8).

When it comes to gender difference, men's attitudes to vehicle technologies are most affected by the perceived utility for their own purposes, while women's are more influenced by social influences and perceived usability (190). One study found that five AVTs were found to be more commonly used by men aged over 65 than women (high intensity headlights, navigation systems, adaptive cruise control, reversing/parking assist and rear-view cameras (191)), while the LongROAD study found no differences for navigation, adaptive cruise control, or reversing/parking assist technologies, but detected differences for adaptive headlights, emergency response, in-vehicle concierge, and voice control (8), with male drivers reporting higher usage than female drivers.

Certain AVTs seem to be meeting greater resistance than others, and the reasons for this are not always clear; voice control, which has relatively low usage rates, is one example. One explanation for this outcome is that voice control systems are difficult to learn, although further research is required to understand why, as at face value it should be relatively simple compared to other technologies. As one study notes (182: 37):

"As the number and complexity of advanced in-vehicle systems continue to grow, there will be a need to make interfacing with these systems as intuitive and simple as possible. [Voice activated control] systems are a promising method for making interactions with in-vehicle... technologies easier and safer."

3.2.2 Perceived benefits of using advanced vehicle technology

Use of AVTs for speed regulation has been found to be more common among men than women, with the percentage uptake being 67% and 27% respectively (157). The main systems used for this purpose are automatic cruise control, speed warning systems from the navigation system, and speed limiters. The perceived utility of these speed control systems was as high as for navigation systems (157).

A recent Canadian study reported that when drivers' driving performance had deteriorated, their perceptions of the utility of AVTs increased, as they were viewed as supplementing

visual, motor and cognitive challenges, assisting not only with day-to-day driving situations but also in high-risk driving situations, such as negotiating careless drivers, heavy traffic and pedestrian congestion, road infrastructure. (188). These findings are contrary to previous research specifying lack of usefulness as a key reason for AVT rejection (189), but the authors explain this in terms of differences in interpretative methods (188).

The US LongROAD study indicated that 70% of older drivers felt that AVTs made them safer drivers, particularly in the case of navigation, blind spot warning, lane departure warning, forward collision warning, and reversing/parking assist. Semi-autonomous parking assist and voice control had the lowest perceived safety ratings, which is explained in terms of a tendency to perceive these systems as making driving easier rather than safer per se (8). However, voice control systems in particular have been found to confer significant safety benefits (192), so it would seem that there may be a gap between the *perception* of safety benefits and the *actual* safety benefits of voice control.

Whilst the evidence indicates that older drivers do perceive the benefits of using AVTs to enhance their driving, and that they generally have trust and confidence in the technological systems, the use of AVTs provokes conflicting 'automotive emotions' (193) including feelings of unsettledness, irritation, frustration and aggression, particularly in relation to adaptive cruise control and navigation systems (188). Thus it appears that it is important to educate drivers about the abilities, limitations and availability of assistive technologies, and to help them to acclimatise to the differences in driving with and without the intervention of AVTs, in order to minimise these emotional effects and allow them to benefit from the risk reduction that is associated with effective engagement with these technologies.

3.3 Training in the use of advanced vehicle technology

Older drivers, like younger ones, often learn to use in-vehicle technologies in an unstructured way, but unlike younger drivers, they may not be as technologically experienced, and their cognitive skills are likely to vary to a greater degree (194). Studies have reported, for example, drivers with in-vehicle support systems but with no knowledge of how to use them, and who therefore lacked faith in their capabilities, because the system's attempts to intervene were regarded by the drivers – based on ill-informed usage – as inappropriate (195).

The LongROAD study (See Figure 3.1) indicated that almost half of older drivers worked out how to use ADAS by themselves, while 20% received instruction from the vehicle dealer; 13% never learnt to use them at all, while a mere 0.1% looked online for guidance (8), with 12% reading the manual to learn how to use them; the remainder (5%) turned for the most part to family or friends (3.9% family/friend and 1.0% other). These findings are in accordance with previous studies reporting that up to 30% of drivers were not aware that their vehicle offered certain AVTs, and so were unlikely to have received any instruction on using those technologies (196, 197). A review by the AAA (American Automobile Association) Foundation for Traffic Safety (198) also reported that half of older drivers learnt to operate their AVTs through trial and error, while 75% used the owner's manual and 60% received instruction from the dealer (the responses in this case allowing for more than one category of learning method per individual).



Figure 3.1: Proportion of older drivers reporting different methods of learning AVT functionality and use, from LongROAD study data

Source: Eby et al. (8)

If older drivers lack comprehension of AVT function and operation but believe all the same that these technologies will help to mitigate their on-road risk, then targeted training and education are required to fill the knowledge gap in terms of operating the systems and gaining understanding of what they can and cannot do to assist (181, 199). Training opportunities present themselves at the point of purchase and during licence renewal, but currently there is no assignment of responsibility for provision of education and training. Some researchers have indicated that accountability should sit with vehicle dealers (181), whilst others have noted that motoring organisations, such as the AAA in the USA (188), may be well placed to offer training on AVTs to older drivers. In the UK there are organisations that may be in a particularly strong position to promote this education, such as the Guild of Experienced Motorists, Brake (the road safety charity), or even non-motoring-specific entities such as Age UK.

Another underutilised approach relates to online education of the kind that can provide additional information and promote other available resources, for example educational publications such as *Smart Features for Older Drivers* (200) and *MyCarDoesWhat.org* (201). It has been suggested that promotion of online education for older drivers may even assist in reducing the differences in the extent to which older and younger people use the Internet for health and well-being purposes (202, 203). Another suggested approach to improving older drivers' ability to learn to interact with ADAS is to provide intuitive systems that do not require substantial training (204, 8).

3.4 Reversing cameras

Reversing cameras have demonstrated benefits in reducing reversing collisions (205, 206), and since 2018 there has been a requirement for them to be fitted to all new light vehicles sold in the USA (207). Reductions in flexibility, and therefore range of movement, are commonplace among older people, and these restrictions inevitably make reversing manoeuvres more difficult, owing to that fact that it is harder for them to turn round to make 360 degree observations (208). Older drivers have been found to favour 'pull-through' parking when possible in order to avoid the need for reversing manoeuvres; nevertheless, reversing is recognised as a common element of day-to-day driving, although older drivers have been observed to favour 'drive in and reverse out' strategies more commonly than reversing in, which has been explained in terms of the greater manoeuvring difficulty involved in reversing into a confined space as compared to reversing out of one (179).

Studies have shown that older drivers often do not turn to look behind them when reversing, even when reminded, but this was driven more by habit than physical restriction, with some stating that they considered it unnecessary as they would use the mirrors, a response which was attributed to the nature of driver education at the time when the current older driver cohort learnt to drive (209). Further research indicates that the presence of reversing cameras does not have an effect on whether older drivers turn to look behind them; this may appear to be indicative of risky behaviour, but because structural design changes mean that rearward visibility is decreasing in many modern vehicles, turning to look directly behind when reversing may no longer be the optimal action – although it must in that case be replaced with monitoring the reversing camera screen, which this essentially becomes another window (179). Most older drivers report increased confidence from the greater awareness of the position of their vehicle relative to surrounding hazards that these cameras give, and recognise that reversing cameras reduce the stress of reversing (179).

In order for reversing cameras to be effective, their use must be assimilated into older drivers' reversing habits, and their existing habits are likely to be well entrenched. In a task involving detecting unexpected hazards, glancing at the reversing camera screen led to lower collision rates, but the frequency of glances decreased over time, particularly in familiar environments with lower perceived risk, such as their own driveways – a finding attributed to failure to incorporate glances at the screen into their reversing habits (210). Driveways and car parks are particular hotspots for reversing incidents (211), so more education may be required to calibrate older drivers' perceptions of the locations and situations that present the highest risk. It has been hypothesised that the longer a driver owns a vehicle equipped with reversing cameras, the greater the likelihood of regular system usage, but no evidence of this relationship has emerged (180).

3.5 Navigation and route guidance

Age related declines in functioning result in more difficulty navigating, because declines in cognitive, perceptual and motor skills affect development and recall of spatial environments (212, 213), but navigation systems can simplify the driving task by providing step-by-step route instructions, something that is particularly beneficial for reducing cognitive workload in unfamiliar environments (214), although a lack of familiarity with the technology may result in conflicting demands for attention between safe driving and following instructions, thus increasing cognitive workload (215).

A survey published in 2014 of 534 drivers aged 65 and over found that 60% experienced the need for navigational assistance, resulting in use of maps while driving (62%) and reading maps at the roadside (55%), and in some cases writing or drawing their own route plan before embarking on the journey (33%); only 10%, however, reported using an invehicle navigation system (214), although this proportion may have increased since the study was carried out as technology becomes more embedded in day-to-day life, and as a new cohort of more technologically receptive older drivers arrives.

An interview study of older drivers in Canada found that they were concerned about the risk of driver distraction presented by navigation systems (216), which is consistent with findings from Australia in which 47% of older drivers rated them as "too distracting" and 35% "too complicated", while 49% felt that they would cause them to "take [their] eyes off the road for too long" (214). More recent Canadian research reported that most older drivers tend to be satisfied with the clarity and usability of navigation technology, but that drivers who believed that navigation systems negatively affected driving performance displayed poorer on-road driving (215) anyway, suggesting that it may either be a self-fulfilling prophecy or an indication that low technological confidence is prevalent among less-able drivers. The on-road evaluation component found no differences in error rates between drivers who were following navigational guidance and those who were not (217).

Most in-vehicle navigation systems show the driver's current location on a map-based visual display, alongside the distance to the next turn and the estimated arrival time at the destination. Instructions are issued based on real-time positioning of the vehicle relative to the route, so drivers do not need to retain information in working memory, although the quantity of information presented on the screen can be demanding for older drivers (218). A simulator study reported that older drivers focused on the screen for 0.98 seconds per glance, compared with 0.84 seconds for younger drivers (219), while on-road research findings averaged 1.08 seconds for older drivers and 0.83 seconds for the younger group (220). These findings suggest that older drivers are more visually distracted by navigation system screens, but the benefits the systems provide in terms of reduced navigational workload and increased confidence may nevertheless outweigh the corresponding risks. Most systems also provide audio-based instruction, which has been found to be essential for safe and effective route guidance (221), particularly for older drivers, for whom audible instructions are favourable owing to the fact that they impose lower visual and cognitive demand on the driver (222). Drivers with mild AD used a navigation system providing instructions by visual, audio or combined delivery, and results showed that audio instructions, without visual display, most effectively facilitated navigation (223).

Navigation systems can also provide audible warnings of upcoming speed limit changes and could present images of forthcoming road signs on the display, offering greater advance warning of hazards, a facility that would require a combination of audio and icon-based visual display (218). In France, most navigation systems incorporate speed limit warning systems owing to the stringency of speed enforcement, and a study there has shown that not only is the ownership rate of navigation systems among older drivers very high (70%), but also that they use their systems frequently – not just for route guidance on unfamiliar roads, but also on familiar roads to assist with speed control (156).

Landmark-based route guidance may be particularly beneficial for older drivers, since good-quality landmarks have been found to enhance navigational performance, driving performance and confidence in drivers of all ages, whilst distance-to-turn information resulted in increases in glance frequency and duration, leading the authors to conclude that navigation systems should use distance-to-turn information only in the absence of adequate landmarks for guidance (224). The study showed that landmark-based guidance does not affect older drivers' visual behaviour when presented using a combination of audio and visual methods, but using visual-only presentation led to an error rate six times higher than combined presentation. It has also been suggested that using "street view" images may be useful for older drivers' navigation, presented with point-of-interest information (218), to enable visual referencing.

Good-quality landmarks are defined as having permanence, visibility, usefulness of location (whether the landmark is located close to navigational decision points), uniqueness, and brevity (the number of terms/words used to refer it) (225); thus, a list of UK-centric landmarks proven effective for navigation was developed: traffic lights, Pelican crossings, bridges over the road, humpbacked bridges, petrol stations, monuments, superstores, street name signs, railway stations, and churches (226).

Whilst active route guidance can minimise the cognitive load placed on the driver by providing step-by-step instructions throughout the drive, pre-trip planning may help to increase older drivers' confidence on unfamiliar routes. If the navigational process began with more comprehensive pre-trip planning, more detail could be gathered about a planned route, including road types, junction types, landmarks, decision points and virtual route driving, and there would also be greater flexibility to consider different routes and make a decision between them without time pressure. Being able to convert the output of a pre-trip planning process into route guidance programming would enable the selected route plan to be presented to the driver in real time. Greater flexibility of route planning is particularly important for older drivers, as they are more likely to travel for leisure, implying that choosing a route based on factors other than fastest or shortest should be facilitated (218).

3.6 Highly automated vehicles

It is generally accepted that widespread adoption of autonomous (self-driving) vehicles is some way off, primarily because of uncertainties relating to the early stage of testing of AVs in on-road conditions, lack of clarity about the nature of human interactions with AVs, and the risks associated with overreliance on self-driving technology (100); moreover, older drivers may adopt this technology more slowly than younger people (184). It is clear, however, that during the introduction of self-driving vehicle technology, the human operator will play an active and safety-critical role (217), as the vehicles will sit at levels 2 and 3 of the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) automation scale (140) – see Table 3.2.

Table 3.2: Definitions of level 2 and 3 automation (NHTSA)

Level 2	An automated system on the vehicle can perform some aspects of the driving task, while the human continues to monitor the driving environment and performs the rest of the driving task.
Level 3	An automated system can both perform some aspects of the driving task and monitor the driving environment in some instances, but the human driver must be ready to take back control when the automated system requests.

Source: NHTSA (140)

Despite the fact that widespread use AVs is still a long way in the future, many vehicles already have features associated with self-driving technology, such as adaptive cruise control, intelligent headlights, reversing and parking assistance, blind spot warning, forward collision and lane departure warning systems (100), and these individual technologies have been found in 60% of US older drivers' vehicles (8), suggesting that even the older driver population are in the early stages of engagement with high levels of vehicle automation.

Some studies suggest an inverse relationship between age and acceptance of AVs, partly as a result of age differences in acceptable safety levels for vehicle technology. Older drivers have to perceive a technology as twice as safe as younger drivers in order to accept it, so AVs targeting older people must be designed to be – and be seen to be – safer (207). Age differences in acceptable risk are attributed to differences in risk-taking and sensation-seeking tendencies, which are known to decrease with age (227). Differences in perceptions of a technology also influence decisions about acceptable risk – for example, low trust (228) or high negative affect (229) reduce the likelihood of acceptance.

Despite relatively low acceptance levels for AVs among the older driver cohort, studies have indicated that the majority of older drivers are interested in the idea of higher levels of vehicle automation, and considered that it could improve mobility for older people, particularly when age-related impairments compromise driving capabilities (157). The authors noted that the older drivers' interest in automated vehicles was confirmed by 70% of the sample agreeing to take part in experiments on using HAVs.

A key concern on the subject of the acclimatisation to HAVs relates to the way in which nondriving-related activities affect drivers' ability to take back control from the vehicle when required. A simulator study found that older and younger drivers both engaged in non-driving activities during automated driving, but the younger group (aged 18 to 35) tended to use electronic devices while the older group (aged 62–81) engaged in conversation (230). Non-driving activities did not significantly affect takeover performance, although older drivers who engaged in them displayed more instances of harsh braking than older drivers who did not (217).

Automated vehicle systems are not able to process all possible situations on the road, and when a situation is encountered that does not meet the criteria for automated processing, the driver must retake control, at which point the vehicle initiates a takeover request (TOR) and allows a specified period of time for control to be taken back by the driver, meaning that the driver must stop performing any non-driving-related task and take manual control of the vehicle (231). Current studies of HAVs and older drivers focus heavily on their performance during the takeover process (137, 232–234). Simulator research has not revealed age-related differences in takeover *performance* (232, 233), although differences in *behaviour* have been noted, with safer and more cautious behaviour observed in older drivers' (230, 235). These differences emphasise the importance of considering older drivers' requirements in HAV system design.

Current research tends to use 20 seconds as a standard takeover time, which is perceived as adequate and comfortable by older drivers, although in adverse conditions such as fog, a longer time may be helpful – nevertheless, adverse weather has not been found to affect takeover time, although it did have a substantial negative effect on takeover quality (234). They were keen to have a reason for the TOR included in the request, to help provide context to inform the takeover process (184).

A comprehensive study of older drivers' attitudes to HAVs indicated that they are generally positive towards them, as they believe they will assist with their mobility and prolong their independence, by improving their safety and comfort in situations they currently find challenging – driving long distances, on motorways, in bad weather conditions and on unfamiliar roads, to name some Their comfort with an HAV system would be improved if it kept them informed while the self-driving mode was engaged, providing information relating to journey and vehicle status, and traffic conditions (184).

In the same study, a concern was raised about the risk of drivers forgetting that they are in the HAV when immersed in non-driving tasks, and consequently failing to maintain sufficient awareness to effectively retake control, so it was proposed that the HAV system should remind them that they are in an HAV, and notify them when it is adapting its driving to meet the demands of adverse conditions, particularly in relation to adverse weather. Another worry related to the driver falling asleep and failing to respond to a TOR in a timely and effective manner, so the HAV system should monitor drowsiness indicators and warn the driver using an audible alarm and/or vibration should they exhibit signs of sleepiness. They also suggested that it should analyse the drivers' driving style and adapt its own style to be consistent with theirs, whilst correcting all negative elements of the human's driving style; and, taking this idea further, if it identifies risky driving behaviour when it is being driven manually, it should notify the driver in order to assist them to drive more safely (184).

In time, level 3 or 4 HAVs which still allow drivers to take part in manual driving may be more readily adopted by older drivers, whereas a fully self-driving vehicle may be preferable for those who have had to give up driving, as it could help them regain their mobility (184).
3.7 Meeting older drivers' needs

Vehicle technology can reduce older driver risk by compensating for age-related sensory, cognitive and physical declines, and thereby extending safe mobility; however, consideration of both the needs and the capabilities of older drivers in the design of in-vehicle technologies is essential if they are to benefit from the potential risk mitigation that these systems can provide. What is more, their experiences of such technologies may contribute strongly to perceptions among the broader population, as they are likely to be early adopters, because these systems are typically introduced into the higher-end vehicles first (17). It has been noted that a tendency exists for vehicle systems to be designed without sufficient consideration of older drivers' opinions, capacities and needs, which can lead to systems that create more problems for older drivers than they solve (218, 186, 234, 236, 237), as these technologies can benefit older drivers only if their design is congruent with their complex needs and diverse abilities (238).

Three major areas where older drivers have specific needs that could be supported by vehicle technology have been identified as (195):

- divided attention relationships between cognitive and visual processing tests and driver performance suggest that support in managing on-road situations requiring divided attention would be beneficial;
- look-out in-vehicle support systems offering observational support in trafficdense situations and areas in which unexpected hazards are most likely to emerge may bring about safety benefits; and
- continuous situational support for example navigational guidance, traffic and driving strategic assistance, route planning and speed limit warnings – can reduce cognitive workload and increase confidence, thus reducing errors.

The design of vehicle technology systems is informed by automotive human–machine interface (HMI) design and performance guidelines, which are intended to promote safe design and assessment of in-vehicle systems, particularly with reference to driver workload and distraction. These are 'best practice' guidelines but not mandatory, so they do not offer any regulation per se – instead, they are advisory documents (239). There are numerous sets of guidelines in existence, most notably:

- European Statement of Principles (ESoP) (240)
- Alliance of Automotive Manufacturers Statement of Principles (USA) (241)
- Japanese Automobile Manufacturers Association (JAMA) Guidelines (242)
- Transport Research Laboratory (TRL) Design Guidelines (UK) (243)
- Battelle Crash Warning System (CWS) Interfaces guidelines (USA) (244)
- NHTSA Phase 1 Visual–Manual Driver Distraction Guidelines for In-Vehicle Electronic Devices (USA) (245).

A review of these guidelines identified several areas where they do not effectively address the potential sensory, cognitive and physical limitations of older drivers, probably as a result of incomplete research evidence on which to build detailed HMI design guidance for older drivers, not to mention the absence of legal and policy frameworks covering these areas (186). These types of guidelines tend to be technologically neutral so that they can be applied across different systems (246) and remain applicable over time despite the fast pace of technological progression, but this means that they are often written in such general terms that variations in interpretation are inevitable (186). However, if interpretation is carefully executed and optimal human factors and design principles are integrated from the start of the design process, the chances of older drivers being able to use the end product are increased (17).

The increases in vehicle technology observed in recent years, and those predicted in years to come, present a challenges to older drivers, as it requires them to have the ability to adapt well embedded skills, and also the flexibility to redefine the relationship between the driver and the vehicle. As vehicles become ever more autonomous, it will be increasingly important that older drivers are catered for in the design and implementation process (185). Designing for older people, and developing intuitive and user-friendly systems, would benefit the entire driving population (195). Only by effective collaboration between developers, manufacturers, engineers, researchers, governments and road safety agencies, can automated vehicle technology be implemented to full effect in such a way that it benefits the older driver population (186).

3.8 Advanced vehicle technologies as support for older drivers

There is research evidence for the potential of existing vehicle technologies to assist older drivers in minimising risk and maximising safe mobility and therefore maintaining independence (188, 218, 236, 237). In-vehicle systems can help older drivers to increase self-awareness and understanding of their age-related declines and assist them in mitigating the corresponding risks in an effective manner (236). Developing support systems that can be customised to meet the needs of older drivers is important, as their in-vehicle support needs are slightly different owing to differences in cognition between younger and older drivers (195). Older drivers' processing speed decreases with increasing cognitive workload (247), which has been linked to age-related limitations in memory and attention and declines in executive function, planning, cognitive flexibility and judgement; therefore older drivers may be more prone to distraction, as they have less attentional capacity and multitasking is more difficult for them (157). In challenging driving situations, particularly where the visual complexity is high, older drivers experience greater attentional demand (248) and carry out elements of the driving task sequentially rather than simultaneously, which slows their processing rate and has been linked to higher crash frequency in simulated driving (249).

Older drivers generally appear to appreciate the safety benefits of vehicle technologies, but it is still unclear exactly which ones are linked to safer driving, and how the effects of the presence of technologies differ under different driving conditions, and for different subgroups of older drivers (188). Some researchers have expressed concerns about whether even lower-level vehicle automation be perceived as providing so much support to drivers that it could lead to overconfidence, which could increase on-road risk and result in drivers continuing to drive for longer than they should (188), which implies that further research into how vehicle technologies affect the timeline of the cessation process is required, in order to build up a true picture of their overall effects on older drivers (115). However, driving anxiety is a problem among many older drivers (as noted in section 2.6), and vehicle technologies can help drivers to feel safer, thus reducing the effects of stress on task performance, and allowing them to dedicate more cognitive resources to hazard monitoring and decision-making on the road with the support of the assistive technologies (188).

4. Effective Interventions



This section considers approaches to ensuring that older drivers receive effective interventions to minimise their risk on the road. It covers ways of assessing older drivers, and the importance of appropriate self-assessment in encouraging self-regulation. It covers the role that family and friends can play in this process, and the difficulties that presents for both parties. The increasing capability of vehicles to provide relevant feedback to the driver is also considered, along with the most appropriate models for older driver risk reduction approaches.

4.1 Assessing older drivers

It has been noted that the concept of the older driver is a construct referenced against the norms of the corresponding time period, and as people are staying active for longer and lifespans are increasing, the definition of an older driver will change – the typical older driver will be even older, and there will be greater representation of female drivers in the population (250). Drivers are already driving more often and for longer into old age; recent research indicates that currently 60% of Australian older drivers are driving more than six times per week, and that overall they have better health than non-drivers (251). Much of the research into older driver assessment has targeted medical fitness to drive, owing to a legislative focus on regulation and licence restriction among most highly motorised nations, but the increases in crash rates among relatively fit, regular drivers who would pass standard fitness-to-drive tests indicates that this approach is not effective for managing risk among the rapidly growing older driver population (252).

This increase in crash risk among relatively healthy, regular older drivers raises three key concerns:

- that older drivers are not sufficiently self-aware to implement effective selfregulation;
- that their self-regulation abilities are insufficient to compensate for declines in driving skills; and
- that their self-regulation behaviour is ineffective and does not reduce crash risk (141).

It is therefore important to determine the most effective ways of assessing older driver risk, to assist older drivers with effective self-regulation, and to allow objective measurement of their driving risk as a backstop for ineffective self-regulation.

Quantifying older driver risk, particularly in terms of evaluating the impact of competing risks, continues to pose a challenge, and some authors have even suggested that traffic researchers have failed to engage with gerontological experts or integrate their general findings into the road safety domain (253). Driver risk research requires interdisciplinary consideration, but if that is insufficient, then research may be – erroneously – grounded in the assumption that older drivers are a homogenous group. This would have the consequence that the effects of substantial individual differences – the positives associated with increased age as well as the negatives – might be ignored (254). Researchers may even go so far as to inadvertently introduce negative bias against older drivers into the research design, because of influences in perception of this group stemming from the media and widely held stereotypes (255), meaning that attempts to assess older drivers may be coming from a negative position by default.

Another perspective on the assessment of older drivers raises the question as to whether they really do need to be assessed differently from other drivers in the first place, for two main reasons: firstly, that individual differences within the older driver group appear to be greater than among younger groups (250, 256, 257); and secondly, because it is possible that problems and errors associated with older driver declines may in fact be normal bad habits acquired and embedded over the years (258). The focus on older-driver-specific assessment has even been attributed to the pursuit of personal gains among traffic researchers, whereby the lure of royalties from the intellectual property associated with older driver assessments may be influencing the direction of the literature, in a way that is reminiscent of the accusations levelled at the pharmaceutical industry that it has influenced the biomedical literature (259). However, research-based concerns about the risks specific to older drivers have been in evidence for over 50 years (250), without any lucrative blanket-screening assessment having as yet been developed.

Currently, mandatory assessment of older drivers for licensing requirements tends to relate to eyesight testing, certainly in Europe, except where medical professionals or police have raised specific concerns about an individual's fitness to drive. For example, in the Netherlands, Denmark, Cyprus and Ireland, drivers must take an eyesight test at the age of 70, whereas in the UK they make a self-declaration of their medical and visual fitness, but can do this without undertaking any actual assessment (260). Other types of tests have been linked to crash risk, and may have utility for older driver assessment, but are likely to pick up only those deficits which are brought about by particular types of age-related declines – for example the Rapid-Pace Walk, which measures speed, balance and co-ordination of movement (261). Scores of ten seconds or more have been linked to elevated crash risk (262), but it is entirely possible that drivers with particular types of cognitive impairment would perform quite adequately on this task and thus not be flagged as 'high risk' from the results. Equally, the Block Design Task, a measure of spatial ability deemed to have high ecological validity (263), has been found to be a good indicator of VMC when used as part of a battery of cognitive tests (72), as has the UFOV test (67, 119). VMC is in turn linked to driving performance, but for drivers for whom VMC is not the key issue, these tests are not going to identify them as at-risk. A meta-analysis conducted in 2014 concluded that whilst the evidence indicates that cognitive screening instruments have predictive abilities in relation to older driver behaviour, no single instrument has sufficient validity and reliability in identifying all, or even the majority of unsafe drivers (264). The authors go on to note that the predictive value of screening instruments varies depending on the way in which each assessment approaches the driver measurement process.

Another key issue with driver testing is that any kind of assessment only allows the evaluation of maximal behaviour as opposed to measuring typical behaviour (265). Under test conditions, people either optimise their performance, or experience performance decrements associated with increased stress and cognitive workload; neither of these scenarios are conducive to accurate representation of day-to-day performance. If driver risk-mitigation measures are to be implemented effectively, they must be tailored to the individual and focus on improving specific risk areas – but this can be done only if assessment scores accurately reflect specific elements of driving (158).

A Belgian study published in 2016 concluded that in order to develop effective driving assessment programmes, several functional abilities must be assessed from the start, as opposed to having one initial test acting as a gateway to further testing for those who fail, and release without further follow-up for those who pass (158). This goes against many countries' existing policies, which use a sequential system to overcome the logistical difficulties associated with implementing comprehensive driving assessments that involve cognitive and physiological tests, together with on-road driving assessments. Certainly in the UK, medical professionals – particularly GPs – are held responsible for much of the first-tier screening, as they have contact with the drivers and are delegated the power to refer them for more detailed multidimensional assessments. For this reason it is important that first-tier screening instruments have high validity and reliability in determining safe and unsafe drivers, but the multifactorial nature of driving renders this effectively impossible (64). For example, for drivers with hazard detection difficulties, only a test of attention may reveal these problems; for drivers with longitudinal driving problems, on the other hand, a balance test may be required to identify the issue (158). The same study also concluded that assessments which measure functional abilities only cannot differentiate between safe and unsafe older drivers, as a more contextually grounded approach is required, such as an onroad or simulator-based driving assessment. On-road assessments offer optimal ecological validity (although at increased risk to both the drivers and the assessors), but, given that

some older drivers lack familiarity with simulation technology and are less technologically experienced in general than others, and that simulator sickness is a common problem (265), simulator use may negatively impact performance and thus skew assessment results for a subset of the older driver population, compromising the validity of the assessment.

Given the obvious challenges involved in creating a standardised, objective driver assessment that facilitates targeted interventions capable of helping older drivers to selfregulate effectively, it is necessary to turn attention to the resources that are readily available to assist older drivers in calibrating their own self-awareness and implementing appropriate self-regulatory behaviours.

4.2 Self-awareness

It is well established in the literature that self-awareness of driving ability is a key factor in successful self-regulation in older drivers (266, 267), and that drivers lacking that selfawareness present a higher risk to both themselves and others (268). Before drivers consider making a self-regulatory change, they must perceive that a threat exists, otherwise the motivator for change is lacking; but age-related declines are usually so gradual that their impact on driving performance goes undetected (138) until it reaches critical proportions and starts to cause problems. On the other hand, self-regulation without the presence of a threat can impose premature and unnecessary restrictions on driving, potentially leading to negative social and emotional consequences.

Lack of awareness is often exacerbated by cognitive decline, particularly in individuals suffering more serious cognitive impairment (269), but the impact of cognitive decline on self-regulatory behaviour is not clearly established in the literature (61). Self-ratings of ability have failed to predict older drivers' functional performance on measures of cognitive, visual and physical abilities (270), but studies have shown that drivers with established cognitive impairment reported avoiding more situations than those with questionable or no cognitive impairment, which was supported by passenger ratings that indicated clear and frequent self-regulatory behaviours among the impaired group (46). Drivers with questionable cognitive impairment report more difficulties with driving situations than the other groups, something that was also supported by passengers. When asked to rate their own driving performance, cognitively impaired drivers rated their performance as less safe compared with the self-appraisals provided by those with questionable or no cognitive impairment. Cognitively impaired drivers rated themselves as the same as other drivers in their age group, while those without definitive impairment rated themselves as better than other drivers in their age group. The lower self-ratings of the impaired group indicate that they understood that they were experiencing negative performance effects as a result of their age-related declines. (46).

Self-enhancement biases are common to drivers of all ages (271), and their prevalence means that older drivers are not inclined to automatically and spontaneously generate a full and accurate perception of their limitations – the tendency is to overestimate driving performance (5, 268, 271). Self-regulation may be triggered by discomfort under demanding driving conditions, rather than by proactive self-assessment (272), although some studies have indicated that despite drivers reporting discomfort in some higher-demand driving situations, this discomfort was attributed to external factors, such as glare or changes in road layouts, and thus did not act as a catalyst for increased self-awareness (138).

Difficulties specific to older drivers tend to manifest themselves in slow manoeuvring, attentional difficulties (250), health problems (101) and failures to understand their own limitations (273). Their risk is rarely increased by the voluntary risk-taking commonly observed in younger drivers – rather, they fail to respond appropriately to traffic situations despite intending to be safe (101). Their slowness can result in conflicting driving styles between older and younger drivers, particularly at junctions and in other demanding driving situations in which age differences in processing speed are particularly noticeable (274), but these conflicts do not necessarily provoke effective self-assessment processes. However, studies have indicated that driving decision workbooks can promote self-awareness through guided self-assessment (275).

Older drivers using the Driving Decisions Workbook (developed from the late 1990s onwards by the University of Michigan Transportation Research Institute) reported increased awareness of cognitive and operational deficits, which triggered self-regulation processes (275), with 14% becoming aware of changes in their abilities, and 25% reporting intention to change their driving behaviour in order to mitigate the risks associated with age-related declines. This finding is consistent with Anstey et al.'s Multifactorial Model for Enabling Driving Safety, which stipulates that providing older drivers with strategies to accurately assess their own driving performance, and thus put in place self-regulatory behaviours, allows them to ensure that their driving behaviour is consistent with the demands imposed by their functional abilities (266).

Another self-awareness tool that has shown potential safety benefits for older drivers – the OSCAR³ awareness tool for safe and responsible driving – has been found to increase older drivers' interest in and openness to discussion about driving, as well as increasing their awareness of age-related changes that could negatively impact safe driving, and encouraging engagement with compensatory strategies (276). OSCAR is a document currently available only for research purposes, consisting of 15 questions and 15 related tips on safe driving in older age (277, 278). It is designed to target a range of abilities, including vision, judgement, reaction time, concentration, strength and flexibility, and includes elements relating to driving record and habits, medication and alcohol use. It suggests resources relating to compensatory strategies, courses and assessment. Early validation studies have established its utility in increasing self-awareness among older drivers of age-related changes, and in helping them learn about risk-mitigation strategies and resources (277, 279). The authors of the instrument assert that (277, Abstract):

"While promoting safe driving and the prevention of crashes and injuries, this intervention could ultimately help older adults maintain or increase their transportation mobility. More studies are needed to further evaluate OSCAR and identify ways to improve its effectiveness."

³ The acronym OSCAR is from the French 'Outil de sensibilisation des conducteurs âgés aux capacités requises pour une conduite automobile sécuritaire et responsable' – literally 'Tool for the education of older drivers about the capabilities required for safe and responsible driving'.

Evidence also exists for the effectiveness of an adaptation of OSCAR for relatives of older drivers (OSCARPA – 'PA' referring to caregivers, French 'proches aidants') in improving relatives' interest, openness and knowledge, as well as calibrating their perceptions of changes in older drivers' abilities and use of compensatory strategies (280).

4.3 Family feedback

While many older drivers report that they make their own decisions, many also recognise the role of other people's input in shaping their decision-making processes (281). Key influencers include spouses or partners (282), adult children and other relatives (115), whose feedback can contribute to the implementation of appropriate adjustments to older drivers' behaviours (283), although some studies have found that family and friends have little influence in particular situations – for example, when the driver lives in a rural area (284), where other factors appear to exert greater influence over behavioural outcomes. Studies have revealed that some adult children discourage driving cessation among their parents; this has been attributed partly to concerns about social isolation for the older person, but also to self-interest in that it is avoiding responsibility for provision of alternative transport. Encouraging an elder to modify habits or stop their driving may be motivated by concerns for the safety of older adults adapting to increasingly complex driving environments, perhaps in tandem with declines in their physical abilities (285).

The process of making major life decisions has been studied within the health and social care disciplines, with family members often found to be highly influential, particularly when the older person does not have a spouse or partner (286), although recent research observes that there is no published research evidence that identifies the extent of the influence of members of older drivers' informal social network on their driving decisions (287).

A recent Austrian study (288) observed that there is little evidence in the literature of research examining factors affecting people's propensity to give feedback to older drivers in the aftermath of high-risk incidents. They note that providing feedback which may be perceived as negative is difficult, as critical feedback often provokes negative emotions (289, 290), and it is commonly perceived that criticising people's driving is offensive (288), and leads to acrimonious situations while failing to bring about any positive changes in driving behaviour (291). This well-entrenched social norm – avoiding criticism of others' driving – may be restricting people's willingness to provide feedback, as social norms are powerful determinants of behavioural inhibition (292, 293). However, it is possible that fostering a belief among the broader population that providing feedback to older drivers would be effective might increase the willingness to provide feedback (294).

A previous US survey indicated that feedback rates are low, with only 2% of the older drivers surveyed reporting that they had received any critical feedback (294), although the sample included drivers from the age of 50 up, so the presence of the younger element of the sample may have skewed the findings to some extent. Despite the lack of research evidence on the benefits of critical feedback, there have been studies indicating that front seat passengers often support drivers with the driving task by carrying out supplementary observations at junctions or issuing warnings relating to hazards ahead (195, 216).

Understanding the roles of family members in shaping driving decisions is important when designing interventions to assist with driving support, modification, reduction and cessation (287). Assessment tools such as checklists could be developed to help family members identify relevant driving issues and structure their conversations with the older drivers, and could include guidance for assisting them to make safe decisions about their driving (273). Self-evaluation tools may also be a useful component of the conversation between older drivers and their family members (295).

A recent Australian study (53) identified four key factors affecting older drivers' propensity to accept feedback from an individual:

- 1. the provider of the feedback must have first-hand experience of their driving;
- 2. the provider must be a good driver, as perceived by the recipient;
- there must be sufficient trust that the recipient perceives the feedback as wellintentioned; and
- 4. the provider must give concrete examples of the behaviours which are subject to criticism.

These findings are consistent with previous research indicating that older drivers prefer specific examples rather than broad discussions about driving regulation (289). Research indicates that for it to be fruitful, feedback should not be delivered on a one-off basis – rather, it should–involve ongoing discussions to assist in understanding recommendations, making adaptive plans, and implementing lifestyle changes (290).

Despite the focus on accepting feedback from people who have personally witnessed their driving and can provide concrete examples of where change may be needed, many older drivers reported the intention to seek confirmation of their requirements for driving adaptation from their doctor, who is unlikely to have direct experience of their driving (287). Feedback tends to be accepted from health professionals, and the majority of older drivers will cease driving if given medical advice to that effect (125, 296). An Australian study reported that 45% of their older driver sample had discussed their driving with their doctors, 43% with their family, and 21% with their friends (297), placing medical professionals (just) at the top of the go-to list for older driver validation. Being so highly regarded as a source of authoritative advice, health professionals require sufficient education about appropriate assessment of fitness to drive, and when and how to report concerns to licensing authorities without compromising the doctor–patient relationship (298, 299). Family members may be able to assist in refining health professionals' assessments by contributing details and experiences of patients' driving (46).

A recent Canadian study (287) identified four domains of family influence on older people, targeting:

- 1. supporting driving;
- 2. modification of driving;
- 3. reduction of driving; and
- 4. stopping driving.

The most influential statements related to supporting driving and reduction of driving, while those relating to stopping driving had less impact; modification of driving had the least effect. The statements with the highest reported impact in each domain are shown in Table 4.1. A full list of statements by category, with the proportion of drivers rating each statement as highly influential, is shown in Appendix A.

Statement group	Key statements	% of participants rating statement as "high influence"
Support driving	I would feel safe driving with you	81
	Would you please pick up the kids in your car	75
	I prefer that you drive	69
Modify driving	You drive too fast	67
	You are driving too slowly	64
	You need to get your eyes checked, you miss things	64
Reduce driving	Your reflexes are getting slower	81
	Your driving scares me	75
	Your driving has deteriorated	72
Stop driving	How would you feel if you hit a child?	83
	I don't want you to drive your grandchildren	78
	I don't want you to drive any more	75

Table 4.1: Highest influence statements

Source: Adapted from Caragata et al. (288)

Three steps were proposed for implementing optimal family intervention:

- 1. identify the most appropriate person to discuss driving regulation with the older driver, based on the nature and quality of their relationship, the frequency with which they have observed their driving, and the person's own driving record;
- 2. establish clear goals for the communication, based on the four statement domains identified in this research, and deliver a consistent message; and
- 3. identify the habit strength of the older driver and adapt interventions accordingly.

It can be concluded that a lack of feedback and support increases the difficulty experienced by older drivers in effectively self-assessing and making informed decisions about their driving, which causes some older people to cease driving prematurely, while others keep driving for longer than is safe (300). Appropriate feedback, delivered in a manner consistent with older drivers' preferences, may be effective in assisting them to self-regulate their driving and reduce their overall risk on the road.

4.4 Vehicle feedback

Increases in availability of telematics data from vehicles mean that it is now possible to gather continuous data on real on-road driving, rather than just a snapshot of assessed driving, which increases the likelihood of capturing risky driving behaviours (152); this in turn provides the opportunity to give objective feedback to drivers about their performance. This should help older drivers to develop a more accurate understanding of their risk, and allow them to self-regulate on the basis of objective measures rather than subjective experiences (141).

Simulator-based research indicates that feedback improved minimum time to collision, distraction tendency and overall driving performance when the feedback was provided both in real time and retrospectively, and also when given just retrospectively (301), indicating that trip feedback provided after the event can be effective in reducing risk. This is consistent with the findings of on-road research in the USA, in which older drivers received feedback from a system called Trip Diary (141).

The Trip Diary gave feedback on routes selected and on alternative route options with fewer high-risk situations (such as turns across the flow of traffic, U-turns, lane closures, and traffic incidents), and provided a map showing directions for the lower-risk alternative routes. It also reported the frequency of turns across traffic flow, U-turns, speeding, harsh braking, harsh cornering and harsh acceleration events for each trip, which were located on the map to give visual feedback of locations where high-risk behaviours were detected (141). Further details of the metrics gathered and the information displayed to participants can be found in Appendix B.

Despite resistance among older drivers to changing their route choices in response to suggestions from the system (302), feedback from the system reduced their route risk by 2.9% per week, and speeding frequency by 0.9 events per week, equating to a reduction in expected crash rate from 1 in 6,172 trips to 1 in 7,173 trips and a speeding frequency reduction from 46% to 39% (141). The effects on speeding reduction were in line with (although less pronounced than) previous research using telematics devices to report on speed behaviour, which found that they brought about a 75% reduction in speeding violations (303).

These kinds of systems offer a sustainable solution for the provision of long-term feedback with the aim of offering older drivers more effective tools to calibrate their self-assessment and subsequently implement self-regulation It has been suggested that the data gathered by such devices could assist in developing and implementing more effective personalised driver support features, as the system could analyse driving data so as to identify a driver profile that can be used to automatically configure the best support systems to assist the driver (49). The data could even be used to identify the variations within individual drivers' abilities over time and under various road and environmental conditions. When a lack of self-awareness, in combination with age-related cognitive declines, impairs older driver's ability to accurately self-assess their driving performance, and generic self-regulation approaches are not agile enough in their adaptive effects to reduce crash risk (297), the ability to provide personalised feedback on their performance and behaviour may allow them to improve their self-awareness and take appropriate steps to reduce their risk (141).

4.5 Education

Understanding the particular characteristics and behaviours of older drivers is critical for success of education and training intervention programmes (177). Education programmes have been shown to effectively increase awareness and reduce risky driving, but evidence that driver education alone reduces crash rates is limited (76), whilst training interventions have low to moderate effects in improving older drivers' performance (304).

Five presumptions have been proposed for addressing future education for older drivers (273):

- 1. driving a car will continue to be one element of mobility in the future;
- 2. older people want to be able to keep driving;
- 3. safety will be an even more important factor in mobility in the future;
- 4. 'Green' values will be more important in the future; and
- 5. innovative technological applications will be more important in the future.

The focus of driver education has recently shifted to encompass ecological (proenvironment) improvement as well as risk-based elements, but these ecological values may be less familiar to older drivers than their younger counterparts who have grown up with ecological problems at the forefront of public consciousness (273). Changes in educational practices also mean that the traditional instructional process whereby information is imparted from instructor to learner has been superseded by new methods in which drivers self-assess, self-motivate and self-regulate, thus taking ownership of their own continuing development process. New technologies can support this process by providing continuous and objective data to inform the self-assessment and self-development process (273).

It has been suggested that older driver education would benefit from a '3A' (Awareness, Appreciation and Assistance) approach (83), with out-of-vehicle training linked directly to onroad training in order to better assess individuals' abilities and tailor the delivery to meet their needs (142). In the case of drivers who have temporarily suspended their driving because of health problems, refresher courses would help them to return to driving with confidence; also, additional content addressing a range of health and other age-related issues should be made available to older drivers (273). It has been suggested that awareness of potential age-related changes relevant to driving could be raised using the media and communitybased contact opportunities (such as older people's groups and clinics), and that these could be used as a means of marketing the resources available to older drivers which could help them to develop adaptive strategies, along with conveying messages about their importance in maintaining safe driving (305). The authors also noted that information could be used to help reduce stereotypes, by raising public awareness of both the effectiveness of using adaptive strategies for safe driving and the impact that support from carers and health professionals can offer. Other researchers have called for more efficient methods of conveying information and education about safe driving to older drivers, and to their health professionals, as many older drivers have reported that they have not been educated about the potential impact of their medical conditions on their driving (306).

It is commonly accepted that driver education should be made available to all drivers, but there is far less clarity about the extent to which post-test training and education should be mandatory, and how to make it appealing to the drivers who would benefit from it the most (273). It has been suggested that education for older drivers should not take place in isolation from that directed at younger drivers, and that combining the two, whilst posing a challenge stemming from differences in approaches, may help both groups to understand each other better – and it has pointed out that this reflects the on-road environment in which they are required to interact with one another continuously (273).

4.5.1 Training effectiveness

Historically, training designed to improve cognitive processing speed has been accepted as beneficial for older drivers (36), but in recent years thinking has shifted to the view that a multifaceted approach, one that encompasses physical and visual training, incorporating educational components relating to knowledge and behaviour, may be more effective (307, 308); moreover, new education of older drivers should in the future involve a combination of interventions, which should be assembled with consideration to the situational driving environment and individuals' strengths and limitations (309). It is important to understand how to effectively influence each component, but it is also important to be mindful of potential differences in effects that result when they are combined.

An educational intervention for drivers suffering from age-related visual decline was designed to increase their understanding of the effects of visual declines on driving safety, and to help them employ appropriate strategies to reduce risk, such as driving in daylight and making route adjustments. The intervention was found to increase self-reported strategy use and improve drivers' awareness of the effects of visual declines, but this did not translate into reductions in crash rates two years later (310).

Because visual processing speed declines with age, and this process is associated with increased crash risk, older driver training that aims to compensate for these declines has been developed. A study compared the effects of simulator-based training with visual processing speed training on on-road driving performance, and found that participants who had taken part in the visual processing speed training conducted fewer risky manoeuvres (311), and also that this kind of training was associated with improved reaction times. Another study found that a group of drivers who received visual processing speed training were involved in significantly fewer at-fault crashes over the following six years (312). The evidence on the benefits of visual processing speed training lead researchers to conclude that appropriate training can help older drivers to scan more effectively and allocate their attentional resources much more appropriately (76).

Cognitive training for older drivers is becoming increasingly popular, but the transfer effects to the driving task remain questionable (313, 314), as targeting specific functional abilities may have very limited effects on driving performance, because the amount of variance in driving performance that is explained by individual functional abilities is low (282). Research suggests that context-specific training could be more successful in improving actual driving performance (313–315). Simulator-based training is proposed as a safe, economical and appropriate method of targeting impaired driving functions in a context-relevant manner (158).

There is some debate about the effectiveness of simulator-based interventions, research does indicate that they can improve on-road performance in older drivers (315–318), although simulator sickness has been found to affect high proportions of older drivers – 38% in one study (317). However, US studies using combined classroom and on-road education approaches (AAA and 55 Alive) have, equally, failed to demonstrate clear safety benefits (64; 319), as although the intervention groups showed improved knowledge of safe driving practices and fewer frequent unsafe manoeuvres during a driving test, the studies did not then go on to evaluate the impact on crash rates in the aftermath of the interventions.

Classroom-based training was studied using two different delivery approaches – one involving intensive teaching, and the other being a self-guided course; the intensive programme proved most effective (320). A Canadian review of older driver refresher programmes found that classroom-based and on-road interventions both improve driver performance, but that more focus is required on evaluating their effectiveness (321). Similarly, on-road performance was found to improve after participation in a 12-week-exercise intervention, but no links with crash rates have been identified (319).

It may be beneficial to create specific training for the 'oldest old', as drivers aged over 75 are at the highest risk of crashes (21) and have markedly poorer performance in on-road assessments (74). A recent UK study (142) involved 142 drivers aged 75 and over taking part in a two-hour classroom-based driving course (see Appendix C for topic headings), including 48 aged 80 and over, whose main reasons for participating were to update knowledge, improve driving and confirm their competence. Females drivers were more likely to avoid more demanding traffic situations, while over-80s reported greater selfregulation behaviour. All participants reported finding the intervention useful, and most reported improved driving knowledge, with 80% reporting the intention to make behavioural adaptations accordingly. These findings are consistent with earlier research in Canada (307) which found moderate support for improvements in driving awareness and behaviour as a result of participation in educational interventions, but these improvements did not translate into a reduction in crash rates among older drivers. The UK study (142) also considered self-ratings of driving ability and confidence, and found that pre-intervention ratings were high for both constructs, with only three participants reporting that gaining confidence was a motivating factor for participation, which raises concerns about the appeal of older driver interventions for less-confident drivers who may benefit most from taking part. Interestingly, 11% of drivers reported lower confidence and 20% reduced their self-ratings of driving ability post-intervention, indicating that they developed improved awareness of potential hazards and calibrated their self-evaluation processes, a finding consistent with previous research (174).

The problem of attracting older drivers whose driving is essentially unaffected by agerelated declines, rather than those who would really benefit from driver interventions, is a very significant issue affecting older driver risk control on the macro level (273). Focus group data from the UK supports the assertion that competent drivers are more likely to attend older driver interventions than unsafe drivers (142), while researchers in Canada equally encountered self-selection bias in the same way (322). The literature does not offer any firm insights into strategies for overcoming this problem, but it is possible that by using stagebased models to guide people through the self-regulation process more effectively, from a point of being unaware of the potential for age-related declines all the way through to driving cessation, it is hoped that older drivers who can really benefit from the interventions will be motivated to engage with them.

4.5.2 Stage-based models

Recent research has noted that (138: 26nnn):

"there has been little development of stage-based theories applied to driving selfregulation, and hence a lack of research on theoretically-informed interventions that facilitate older drivers' planning for future self-regulation and even driving cessation."

Interventions should target the needs of each individual and be sympathetic to the stage at which they find themselves in the self-regulation process, with consideration to the environmental, psychological, and social factors influencing driver self-regulation (297).

Australian researchers considered the utility of the stage-based Precaution Adoption Process Model (PAPM; 323) in understanding older drivers' self-regulation (see Table 4.2) (297). The main benefit of the PAPM is that it forms a guidance framework for tailoring interventions to target people at different stages (138). The older drivers were categorised according to the stage of the PAPM which applied to them, with the majority of participants (46.8%) in stage 2 (Unengaged), suggesting that whilst they displayed awareness of agerelated effects on driving abilities, they did not believe it applied to them, while 22.1% were in stage 6 (Self-regulating) – although more than two thirds of participants reported reducing their driving exposure over the preceding decade, leading the authors to suggest that the reduction could be attributed to changes in lifestyle preference rather than active selfregulation (297).

Stage number/description		Characteristic		
Stage 1	Unaware	There are no differences between older drivers and younger drivers		
Stage 2	Unengaged	Some old drivers need to change their driving, but I believe that I'm a safe driver and have never thought about the need to change my driving		
Stage 3	Undecided	I am at the point where I am not sure if I should start thinking about ways to avoid certain driving situations or reduce my driving		
Stage 4	Resisting action	Avoiding certain driving situations would be pointless to me		
Stage 5	Planning to act	I am planning to avoid certain driving situations and reduce my driving		
Stage 6	Self-regulating	I have just recently started to avoid challenging driving situations or drive less		

Table 4 2	Precaution	Adoption	Process	Model
	riecaution	Adoption	100633	wouci

Source: Adapted from Caragata et al. (288)

This model has a lot of commonality with some other well-known models, such as the model of driving comfort (115), and the transtheoretical model of behavioural change (323). However, all of them identify awareness and insight into the existence of a problem as the first step towards self-monitoring and self-regulation, and perception of the risk as personally relevant to motivate them to select and implement behavioural changes (138).

The focus on driver education for all drivers – not just older drivers – has shifted in recent years away from an instructional approach based purely on knowledge or skill, towards a multilayer process whereby the teacher coaches the driver towards a greater understanding of factors influencing their own driving performance (273). The Goals for Driver Education (GDE) model forms a framework for this approach, and in its original four-tier form has been applied to older driver behaviour for over a decade, but it has recently been extended to include the top level, addressing the influence of social environment (see Figure 4.1) (295).

Figure 4.1: The five-level driving hierarchy forming the basis for the Goals for Driver Education



Source: Keskinen (274)

Traditionally, a driving instructor focuses on teaching at the lowest levels of driving hierarchy, imparting knowledge and developing skills, in a downward stream from instructor to learner (324). However, at the higher levels the instructor cannot "teach" the driver using a knowledge-based approach, as progress at these levels relies upon the development of personal insights into the role that personal beliefs, preconceptions, attitudes and behavioural tendencies play in determining their risk on the road. The instructor takes on a coaching role, assisting the learner to become conscious of how these elements apply to them as an individual and how they influence their decision-making and thereby their risk on the road (273).

The fifth level of the GDE, social environment, has been added to GDE to create "GDE5SOC" in response to increasing acknowledgement of the impact of social pressures on driver behaviour, which has been commonly observed in young driver samples (325), for whom the GDE was originally developed, but which has been found to apply equally well to older drivers (326). It addresses culture, legislation, enforcement, subculture, social pressures emanating from family, friends, health professionals, the media and a variety of other sources, all of which can influence their perspectives on driving, and ultimately on cessation of driving (273). Research on reasons for driving cessation among older drivers indicated that factors underpinning the decision to stop driving were far more complex than anticipated, with reasons cited which fell into all the different levels of the GDE driving hierarchy, rather than a predominance of health-related reasons (295).

Social skills are those skills required for effective and appropriate interaction with others, but studies of social skills required for driving have revealed (327: 18) that "social skills can be defined as a multistructural system in the areas of human motivation, emotion, and cognition", and as such they form a key element of safe driving. Three key levels are identified (327), each of which have two components: one relates to the driver's own knowledge, observation, understanding and interpretation of social information they receive from their environment (titled 'Internal component' in Table 4.3), while the other relates to the way they choose to interact with the social environment, which will affect their own and others' social perceptions (titled 'External component' in Table 4.3).

Skill set	Internal component	External component
Prosocial skills	Knowledge of norms	Willingness to follow norms
Anticipating skills	Anticipating the behaviour of other people	Ensuring behaviour can be anticipated by others
Emotional skills	Noticing and understanding others' emotions	Expressing emotions in a constructive way

Table 4.3: Core components of social skills in traffic

Source: Adapted from 329

It has been often postulated that driving experience is critical in developing social skills in the traffic environment (328), but the relationship between age and social skills in driving is unclear (329) and no effect of mileage on social skills was detected, contrary to the expectation that experience would be a key influence on drivers' social behaviour on the road (328).

4.6 Supporting effective self-regulation

Self-regulation has been defined (330: 363) as the adjustments made by drivers "in their driving behaviour that adequately match changing cognitive, sensory and motor capacities" and as such it is important that it is not used synonymously with driving cessation, although in many cases driving cessation will be the end point in the process.

Effective self-regulation relies on sufficient self-awareness to accurately monitor driving ability (266), the decision-making capability to select appropriate adaptive strategies, and the self-efficacy to implement them. Patterns indicate that self-regulation increases with age, and that women are significantly more likely than to engage in self-regulation than men (331).

It is well established in the literature that driving cessation is linked to depression (332), social isolation (333), general health decline and mortality (36), and caregiver burden (334). Alternative transport options such as walking, cycling or using public transport are more readily available to the healthier element of the older driver population, so they may be more willing to reduce their driving exposure than those with physical declines, although those healthy older drivers are also likely to experience fewer age-related difficulties, which may reduce their propensity to adopt effective self-regulation, as they may not perceive that there is a risk of age-related declines in their driving performance (252). Equally, those experiencing cognitive declines may by the very nature of those declines lack self-awareness of driving performance problems, so they may also be resistant to advice relating to their driving (115). The use of Advanced Driving Directives (335) as part of 'living wills' or other healthcare directives has been proposed as an effective strategy for encouraging guided self-regulation (287), whereby an older driver specifies someone to assist them in making decisions about driving cessation. It has been suggested that future research should consider diverse populations of older people with representation from different cultures, domestic circumstances and states of health, in order to understand how these factors affect the way in which older drivers' self-regulation is influenced by feedback and interaction with significant others (252).

Older drivers' perceptions of public transport have been found to be negatively oriented, focusing on descriptions such as inaccessible, expensive, inconvenient, unsafe and unreliable (336, 337). Taxis are commonly viewed as expensive and potentially unsafe, while buses and trains are inconvenient and present accessibility problems (338). This negative bias has led researchers to suggest that promoting alternative transport options from a much younger age would prevent these negative perceptions being carried through into older age, thereby overcoming some of the psychological barriers to making the change from private motoring to alternative transport options in later life (339). It has been noted that whilst there are lots of resources for educating drivers about driving, there is little education available relating to safe and effective use of public transport (273).

When people have experienced a lifetime of car use as their primary mode of transport, it is difficult for them to give that up even when viable alternatives are in place, and for this reason, even when the intention to use alternative transport is present, the likelihood of alternative options actually being used is reduced by the strength of the habit of driving (340, 341). Driving habits are generally stronger in men, and hence men display greater resistance to driving cessation than women (342). Advice on creating new habits is more effective than criticising the old habit (343), so it has been suggested that introducing new transport habits may be more effective than trying to eradicate old habits – so, for example, over a period of time, a new habit of using a taxi to go shopping may override the old habit of driving (287).

Compliance with social norms may also be effective in encouraging behaviour change in relation to self-regulation and driving cessation, if a transport alternative or other adaptive strategy is perceived as being associated with a particular social group with whom the older person identifies or which they aspire to join. The key social influences for older drivers have been identified as maintaining independence and self-worth, and being connected to life and society (332). Household composition also has a strong influence, as older people who lived alone were less likely to actively self-regulate (273).

Forward planning is critical in effective self-regulation and smooth transition along the path from driver to non-driver. Reactive approaches to encouraging self-regulation or driving cessation are associated with more negative consequences than planned processes (344), but studies have indicated that advanced planning discussions between older drivers and family members are rare (287). Planning gives older drivers a feeling of control over the process, and means that they are likely to have a better quality of life after giving up driving (339). Resources exist to support older people with other major life changes such as retirement, so it has been suggested that traffic researchers should focus on designing interventions that can help older drivers to plan their driving cessation process in a similar way, whilst taking steps to combat stereotypical perceptions that self-regulation is inextricably linked to age-related health issues (138).

Positive age stereotypes are linked to beliefs (on the part of third parties who could offer feedback) that giving feedback on driving behaviour can be beneficial and effective (see Figure 4.2), rather than being ineffective and causing distress to the older drivers (288). Some examples of positive stereotypes about older people include perceptions that they are wise, generous, experienced, loyal, friendly, and reliable (345, 346). Negative stereotypes tend to relate to physical and cognitive declines (347). Common stereotypes dictate that older drivers are viewed as slow, unsafe, shy, nervous, and excessively cautious (348, 349). Recent research has suggested that future studies should focus on the extent to which interventions emphasising positive age stereotypes can increase beliefs that giving feedback to older drivers can be effective, rather than damaging to the relationship, with a view to encouraging people to engage with older drivers to help them with their self-regulation processes in a constructive way (287).



Figure 4.2: Path diagram for the effects of stereotypes on feedback behaviour

5. Conclusions



Concrete relationships between age-related changes and actual crashes are difficult to confirm, because the variation in age-related declines from one individual to another are so enormous, and declines in different cognitive systems can interact in such complex ways, that "it is challenging to unpack relationships between perceptual and cognitive decline and driver comfort and safety outcomes" (76). However, the evidence indicates that perceptual and cognitive abilities decline with age, thus causing the driving task to present more difficulties for drivers as they advance further into old age.

There are two key options for improving older driver risk – either changing drivers' performance capabilities, or engineering out the risk by changing the traffic environment; and whilst it has been argued that vehicle manufacturers and road engineers have the greatest impact on road safety (308), a review from 2009 revealed that the traffic environment was, in most of the developed world, quite well engineered for older drivers, and further attempts to accommodate their needs may have unintended consequences for the driving behaviour of other groups, which may in fact serve to increase the risk for older drivers, rather than reducing it (1). So, whilst systems approaches to risk management (which acknowledge older drivers' limitations, and aim to reduce risk by designing vehicles and road environments to accommodate these limitations) are increasingly popular, the emphasis from now on must be placed on helping older drivers to act safely, in terms of their interactions and decision-making within the traffic environment, and also in terms of their interactions and decision-making as regards the self-regulation process (308).

The research evidence indicates that there are gains to be made from helping older drivers to engage in timely, appropriate self-regulation processes, based on well-calibrated self-assessments, and informed by data, from a range of sources, that includes objective measures such as vehicle telemetry and more subjective inputs such as feedback from family members. It is also important that widely held stereotypes about older drivers as a homogeneous group are targeted, in order to reduce preconceptions among the broader population that filter into older drivers' consciousness and compromise their openness to engage with the concept of self-regulation. Simply increasing awareness that 'self-regulation' is not synonymous with 'driving cessation' may be a significant step forward in encouraging more of the older driver population to consider themselves as potential candidates for self-regulation in a timely manner. This would allow them to plan more effectively, which, given the importance of planning for smooth transitioning through the stages of self-regulation, is likely to lead to greater comfort throughout the process, and has been shown to bring about greater satisfaction levels even after driving cessation.

Older drivers must be able to benefit from education schemes that will help them develop a greater understanding of the road conditions and driving situations that present the highest risk to them, and to understand how their specific issues, declines and limitations affect their risk. They require strategies for ongoing self-assessment, and coping strategies that allow them to identify and capitalise on their strengths in order to compensate for their weaknesses. A key component of this is teaching them how to utilise the various information sources available to them that can help them to evaluate themselves accurately and appropriately, and ensuring that they are aware of all sources of driver assistance and risk mitigation, both within the vehicle and in terms of adaptive behavioural strategies, which can help reduce their cognitive workload and increase their confidence - particularly under the driving conditions that they find most challenging. Never before have older drivers had access to so much assistance from vehicle technology, and whilst there were early concerns about a lack of technological familiarity on their part, the literature suggests that appetite among the older driver population for engagement with vehicle technology does exist, and that with appropriate training and guidance, it can offer significant safety benefits and help extend safe driving into older age. On that basis, it appears that the older drivers of today and tomorrow have access to a comprehensive toolkit giving them the opportunity to drive safely for longer than previous generations - the challenge for the road safety industry lies in helping them to use it effectively.

References

- Box, E., Gandolfi, J. and Mitchell, K. (eds.) (2010). *Maintaining Safe Mobility for the Ageing Population: The role of the private car.* RAC Foundation. Accessed 22 October 2019 from www.racfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/maintaining-safe-mobility-racfoundation-140410-report.pdf
- 2. United Nations. (2013). World Population Ageing 2013. New York: United Nations.
- 3. World Health Organization. (2018). *Ageing and Health*. Accessed 20 October 2019 from www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ageing-and-health
- He, W., Goodkind, D. & Kowal, P. (2016). *An Aging World: 2015*. U.S. Census Bureau, International Population Reports, P95/16-1. U.S. Government Publishing Office. Accessed 20 October 2019 from www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2016/ demo/p95-16-1.pdf
- Urlings, J. H. J., van Beers, M., Cuenen, A., Brijs, K., Brijs, T. & Jongen, E. M. M. (2018). The Relation Between Reinforcement Sensitivity and Self-Reported, Simulated and On-Road Driving in Older Drivers. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 56: 466–476.
- Nuyttens, N., Vlaminck, F., Focant, F. & Casteels, Y. (2012). Regionale Analyse van Verkeersongevallen: Vlaanderen 2010 [Regional Analysis of Traffic Accidents: Flanders 2010]. Belgisch Instituut voor de Verkeersveiligheid – Kenniscentrum voor de Verkeersveiligheid [Belgian Institute for Road Safety – Knowledge Center for Road Safety]. Accessed 20 October 2019 from www.vias.be/publications/Regionale%20analyse%20 van%20verkeersongevallen%20-%20Vlaanderen%202010/Regionale_analyse_van_ verkeersongevallen_-_Vlaanderen_2010.pdf
- 7. Sivak, M. & Schoettle, B. (2012). Recent Changes in the Age Composition of Drivers in 15 Countries. *Traffic Injury Prevention*, 13(2): 126–132.
- Eby, D. W., Molnar, L. J., Zakrajsek, J. S., Ryan, L. H., Zanier, N., St Louis, R. M. et al. (2018). Prevalence, Attitudes, and Knowledge of In-Vehicle Technologies and Vehicle Adaptations Among Older Drivers. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 113: 54–62.
- National Center for Statistics and Analysis. (2017). *Traffic Safety Facts. 2015 Data. Older Population*. Report No. DOT HS 812 372. NHTSA. Accessed 20 October 2019 from https:// crashstats.nhtsa.dot.gov/Api/Public/ViewPublication/812372
- Braitman, K. A., Chaudhary, N. K. & McCartt, A. T. (2010). Restricted Licensing Among Older Drivers in Iowa. *Journal of Safety Research*, 41(6): 481–486.
- 11. Yee, W. Y., Cameron, P. A. & Bailey, M. J. (2006). Road Traffic Injuries in the Elderly. *Emergency Medicine Journal*, 23(1): 42–46.

- Turcotte, M. (2012). Profile of Seniors' Transportation Habits. Statistics Canada. Accessed 20 October 2019 from www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/11-008-x/2012001/article/11619eng.pdf?st=IYbXJrUC
- Langford, J. & Koppel, S. (2011). Licence Restrictions as an Under-Used Strategy in Managing Older Driver Safety. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, 43(1): 487–493.
- Desapriya, E., Subzwari, S., Scime-Beltrano, G., Samayawardhena, L. A. & Pike, I. (2010). Vision Improvement and Reduction in Falls After Expedited Cataract Surgery. *Journal of Cataract and Refractive Surgery*, 36(1): 13–19.
- 15. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2001). *Ageing and Transport: Mobility needs and safety issues*. Paris: OECD.
- Koppel, S. & Berecki-Gisolf, J. (2015). Car Licensing Trends of the Baby-Boomer Cohort (b. 1946–1965) Compared to Earlier Birth Cohorts: Effects on the driving population in the state of Victoria, Australia. *Traffic Injury Prevention*, 16(7): 657–663.
- Koppel, S. & Charlton, J. L. (2013). Behavioural adaptation and older drivers. In C. Rudin-Brown & S. Jamson (eds.), *Behavioural Adaptation and Road Safety: Theory, evidence and action* (p. 303-322). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- 18. Koppel, S., Bohensky, M., Langford, J. & Taranto, D. (2011). Older Drivers, Crashes and Injuries. *Traffic Injury Prevention*, 12(5): 459–467.
- Augenstein, J. (2001). Differences in clinical response between the young and the elderly. In Proceedings of the *Ageing and Driving Symposium*, 19–20 February 2001, Southfield, MI, USA. Des Plaines, IL: Association for the Advancement of Automotive Medicine.
- 20. Bunce, D., Young, M. S., Blane, A. & Khugputh, P. (2012). Age and Inconsistency in Driving Performance. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 49: 293–299.
- 21. Mitchell, C. G. (2013). The Licensing and Safety of Older Drivers in Britain. *Accident Analysis* & *Prevention*, 50: 732–741.
- 22. Rakotonirainy, A., Steinhardt, D., Delhomme, P., Darvell, M. & Schramm, A. (2012). Older Drivers' Crashes in Queensland, Australia. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 48: 423–429.
- 23. Thompson, J. P., Baldock, M. R. J. & Dutschke, J. K. (2018). Trends in the Crash Involvement of Older Drivers in Australia. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 117: 262–269.
- The State of Queensland (Department of Transport and Main Roads). (2015). Annual Report 2014–15. Accessed 20 October 2019 from: www.publications.qld.gov.au/dataset/2014-2015-annual-report-transport-and-main-roads/resource/129334d5-b9ac-445e-b652cbbae8d4b7a0
- 25. Mullen, N. W., Dubois, S. & Bédard, M. (2013). Fatality Trends and Projections for Drivers and Passengers: Differences between observed and expected fatality rates with a focus on older adults. *Safety Science*, 59: 106–115.

- 26. Cheung, I. & McCartt, A. T. (2011). Declines in Fatal Crashes of Older Drivers: Changes in crash risk and survivability. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 43(3): 666–674.
- 27. Cheung, I., McCartt, A. T. & Braitman, K. A. (2008). Exploring the Declines in Older Driver Fatal Crash Involvement. *Annals of Advances in Automotive Medicine*, 52: 255–264.
- 28. Cicchino, J. B. & McCartt, A. T. (2014). Trends in Older Driver Crash Involvement Rates and Survivability in the United States: An update. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 72: 44–54.
- 29. Office for National Statistics (2016). Estimates of the Population for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland. Office for National Statistics. Accessed 20 October 2019 from www.ons.gov.uk/ peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/ populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
- data.gov.uk (2016). GB Driving Licence Data. Department for Transport. Accessed
 20 October 2019 from http://data.gov.uk/dataset/driving-licence-data
- Road Safety Foundation. (2016). Supporting Safe Driving into Older Age: A national older driver strategy. Road Safety Foundation. Accessed 20 October 2019 from https:// roadsafetyfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/modsfl.pdf
- 32. Adler, G. & Rottunda, S. (2006). Older Adults' Perspectives on Driving Cessation. *Journal of Aging Studies*, 20(3): 227–235.
- Liddle, J., Haynes, M., Pachana, N. A., Mitchell, G., McKenna, K. & Gustafsson, L. (2014).
 Effect of a Group Intervention to Promote Older Adults' Adjustment to Driving Cessation on Community Mobility: A randomized controlled trial. *The Gerontologist*, 54(3): 409–422.
- 34. Karthaus, M. & Falkenstein, M. (2016). Functional Changes and Driving Performance in Older Drivers: Assessment and interventions. *Geriatrics (Basel)*, 1(2): 12.
- Classen, S., Winter, S. M., Velozo, C. A., Bédard, M., Lanford, D. N., Brumback, B. et al. (2010). Item Development and Validity Testing for a Self- and Proxy Report: The safe driving behavior measure. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 64(2): 296–305.
- Edwards, J. D., Perkins, M., Ross, L. A. & Reynolds, S. L. (2009). Driving Status and Three-Year Mortality Among Community-Dwelling Older Adults. *Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 64(2): 300–305.
- 37. Chihuri, S., Mielenz, T. J., DiMaggio, C. J., Betz, M. E., DiGuiseppi, C., Jones, V. C. et al. (2015). *Driving Cessation and Health Outcomes in Older Adults: A LongROAD study*. AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety. Accessed 20 October 2019 from https://aaafoundation.org/ wp-content/uploads/2017/12/DrivingCessationandHealthOutcomesReport.pdf
- Audet, T., Arcand, M., Godbout, C. & Lessard, L. (2007). Conduite automobile. In M. Arcand & R. Hébert (eds.), *Précis Pratique de Gériatrie* (pp. 1099–1112). Paris: Edisem.

- Anstey, K. J., Horswill, M. S., Wood, J. M. & Hatherly, C. (2012). The Role of Cognitive and Visual Abilities as Predictors in the Multifactorial Model of Driving Safety. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 45: 766–774.
- 40. Wong, I. Y., Smith, S. S. & Sullivan, K. A. (2012). The Relationship Between Cognitive Ability, Insight and Self-Regulatory Behaviors: Findings from the older driver population. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 49: 316–321.
- Albert, M. A., DeKosky, S. T., Dickson, D., Dubois, B., Feldman, H. H., Fox, N. C. et al. (2011). The Diagnosis of Mild Cognitive Impairment Due to Alzheimer's Disease: Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 7(3): 270–279.
- 42. Touliou, K., Panou, M., Maglaveras, N. & Bekiaris, E. (2019). Executive, Emotional and Physiological Functioning in Older Drivers with Mild Cognitive Impairment. *International Journal of Transportation Science and Technology*, 8(2): 129–135.
- Koppel, S., Charlton, J. L., Richter, N., Di Stefano, M., Macdonald, W., Darzins, P. et al. (2017). Are Older Drivers' On-Road Driving Error Rates Related to Functional Performance and/or Self-Reported Driving Experiences? *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 103: 1–9.
- Diller, E., Cook, L., Leonard, D., Reading, J., Dean, J. M. & Vernon, D. (1999) *Evaluating* Drivers Licensed with Medical Conditions in Utah, 1992–1996. Report DOT HS 809 023. NHTSA. Accessed 20 October 2019 from https://rosap.ntl.bts.gov/view/dot/1646
- Fraade-Blanar, L. A., Hansen, R. N., Chan, K. C. G., Sears, J. M., Thompson, H. J. & Crane, P. K. (2018). Diagnosed Dementia and the Risk of Motor Vehicle Crash Among Older Drivers. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 113: 47–53.
- 46. Devlin, A. & McGillivray, J. (2016). Self-Regulatory Driving Behaviours Amongst Older Drivers According to Cognitive Status. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 39: 1–9.
- 47. Gabaude, C., Marquié, J.-C. & Obriot-Claudel, F. (2010). Self-Regulatory Driving Behaviour in the Elderly: Relationships with aberrant driving behaviours and perceived abilities. *Travail Humain*, 73(1): 31–52.
- 48. O'Connor, M. L., Edwards, J. D., Wadley, V. G. & Crowe, M. (2010). Changes in Mobility Among Older Adults with Psychometrically defined Mild Cognitive Impairment. *Journals of Gerontology: Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 65(3): 306–316.
- Molnar, L. J., Eby, D. W., Charlton, J. L., Langford, J., Koppel, S., Marshall, S. et al. (2013). Driving Avoidance by Older Adults: Is it always self-regulation? *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 57: 96–104.
- Finkel, D., Reynolds, C. A., McArdle, J. J. & Pedersen, N. L. (2007). Age Changes in Processing Speed as a Leading Indicator of Cognitive Aging. *Psychology and Aging*, 22(3): 558–568.

- Liu, Y.-C. & Cian, J.-Y. (2014). Effects of Situation Awareness Under Different Road Environments on Young and Elder Drivers. *Journal of Industrial and Production Engineering*, 31(5): 253–260.
- Emerson, J. L., Johnson, A. M., Dawson, J. D., Uc, E. Y., Anderson, S. W. & Rizzo, M. (2012). Predictors of Driving Outcomes in Advancing Age. *Psychology and Aging*, 27(3): 550–559.
- 53. Scott-Parker, B., De Regt, T., Jones, C. & Caldwell, J. (in press). The Situation Awareness of Young Drivers, Middle-Aged Drivers, and Older Drivers: Same but different? *Case Studies on Transport Policy*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cstp.2018.07.004
- 54. Owsley, C. & McGwin, G. Jr. (2010). Vision and Driving. Vision Research, 50(23): 2348–2361.
- 55. Richardson, E. D. & Marottoli, R. A. (2003). Visual Attention and Driving Behaviors Among Community-Living Older Persons. *Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 58(9): M832–M836.
- 56. Clarke, D., Ward, P., Bartle, C. & Truman, W. (2010). Older Drivers' Road Traffic Crashes in the UK. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 42(4): 1018–1024.
- 57. Marmeleira, J., Ferreira, I., Melo, F. & Godinho, M. (2012). Associations of Physical Activity with Driving-Related Cognitive Abilities in Older Drivers: An exploratory study. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 115(2): 521–533.
- Chevalier, A., Coxon, K., Chevalier, A. J., Clarke, E., Rogers, K., Brown, J. et al. (2017). Predictors of Older Drivers' Involvement in Rapid Deceleration Events. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 98: 312–319.
- Chevalier, A., Coxon, K., Rogers, K., Chevalier, A. J., Wall, J., Brown, J. et al. (2016). A Longitudinal Investigation of the Predictors of Older Drivers' Speeding Behaviour. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 93: 41–47.
- Braitman, K. A. & Williams, A. F. (2011). Changes in Self-Regulatory Driving Among Older Drivers Over Time. *Traffic Injury Prevention*, 12(6): 568–575.
- 61. Devlin, A. & McGillivray, J. A. (2014). Self-Regulation of Older Drivers with Cognitive Impairment: A systematic review. *Australasian Journal on Ageing*, 33(2): 74–80.
- 62. He, J., McCarley, J. S. & Kramer, A. F. (2014). Lane Keeping Under Cognitive Load: Performance changes and mechanisms. *Human Factors*, 56(2): 414–426.
- Sun, Q. C., Xia, J. C., Foster, J., Falkmer, T. & Lee, H. (2018). Driving Manoeuvre During Lane Maintenance in Older Adults: Associations with neuropsychological scores. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 53: 117–129.
- 64. Bédard, M., Weaver, B., Darzins, P. & Porter, M. M. (2008). Predicting Driving Performance in Older Adults: We are not there yet! *Traffic Injury Prevention*, 9(4): 335–341.

- 65. Bédard, M., Campbell, S., Riendeau, J., Maxwell, H. & Weaver, B. (2016). Visual-Cognitive Tools Used to Determine Fitness-to-Drive May Reflect Normal Aging. *Clinical & Experimental Optometry*, 99(5): 456–461.
- 66. Backs, R., Tuttle, S., Conley, D. & Cassavaugh, N. (2011). Attention factors compared to other predictors of simulated driving performance across age groups. In Proceedings of the *6th International Driving Symposium on Human Factors in Driver Assessment, Training, and Vehicle Design*, 27–30 June 2011, Lake Tahoe, CA, USA. Iowa City, IA: University of Iowa.
- Mullen, N. W., Chattha, H. K., Weaver, B. & Bédard, M. (2008). Older Driver Performance on a Simulator: Associations between simulated tasks and cognition. *Advances in Transportation Studies*, 31–42.
- 68. Shanmugaratnam, S., Kass, S. J. & Arruda, J. E. (2010). Age Differences in Cognitive and Psychomotor Abilities and Simulated Driving. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 42(3): 802–808.
- Staplin, L., Lococo, K. H., Gish, K. W. & Decina, L. E. (2003). Model Driver Screening and Evaluation Program. Volume II: Maryland Pilot Older Driver Study. NHTSA. Accessed 20 October 2019 from www.nhtsa.gov/sites/nhtsa.dot.gov/files/vol2scr.pdf
- Gandolfi, J. (2010). Infrastructure and older driver risk: a literature review. In E. Box, J. Gandolfi & K. Mitchell (eds.), *Maintaining Safe Mobility for the Ageing Population: The role of the private car* (pp. 97–162). London: RAC Foundation.
- Nasreddine, Z. S., Phillips, N. A., Bédirian, V., Charbonneau, S., Whitehead, V., Collin, I. et al. (2005). The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: A brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 53(4): 695–699.
- Sun, Q. C., Xia, J. C., Li, Y., Foster, J., Falkmer, T. & Lee, H. (2018). Unpacking Older Drivers' Maneuver at Intersections: Their visual-motor coordination and underlying neuropsychological mechanisms. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 58: 11–18.
- Ball, K., Owsley, C. & Beard, B. (1990). Clinical Visual Perimetry Underestimates Peripheral Field Problems in Older Adults. *Clinical Vision Sciences*, 5(2): 113–125.
- Classen, S., Wang, Y., Crizzle, A. M., Winter, S. M. & Lanford, D. N. (2013). Predicting Older Driver On-Road Performance by Means of the Useful Field of View and Trail Making Test Part B. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 67(5): 574–582.
- Rusch, M. L., Schall, M. C., Lee, J. D., Dawson, J. D., Edwards, S. V. & Rizzo, M. (2016). Time-to-Contact Estimation Errors Among Older Drivers with Useful Field of View Impairments. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 95: 284–291.
- 76. Boot, W. R., Stothart, C. & Charness, N. (2014). Improving the Safety of Aging Road Users: A mini-review. *Gerontology*, 60(1): 90–96.
- Ross, L. A., Clay, O. J., Edwards, J. D., Ball, K. K., Wadley, V. G., Vance, D. E. et al. (2009). Do Older Drivers At-Risk for Crashes Modify Their Driving Over Time? *Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 64(2): 163–170.

- Munro, C. A., Jefferys, J., Gower, E. W., Muñoz, B. E., Lyketsos, C. G., Keay, L. et al. (2010). Predictors of Lane-Change Errors in Older Drivers. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 58(3): 457–464.
- Chen, K. H., Rusch, M. L., Dawson, J. D., Rizzo, M. & Anderson, S. W. (2015). Susceptibility to Social Pressure Following Ventromedial Prefrontal Cortex Damage. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 10(11): 1469–1476.
- Sun, Q., Xia, J., Falkmer, T. & Lee, H. (2016). Investigating the Spatial Pattern of Older Drivers' Eye Fixation Behaviour and Associations with Their Visual Capacity. *Journal of Eye Movement Research*, 9(6):2, 1-16.
- 81. Czarnek, G., Kossowska, M. & Richter, M. (2019). Aging, Effort and Stereotyping: The evidence for the moderating role of self-involvement. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 138: 1–10.
- Staplin, L., Harkey, D. L., Lococo, K. H. & Tarawneh, M. S. (1997). Intersection Geometric Design and Operational Guidelines for Older Drivers and Pedestrians. Volume II: Executive Summary. Federal Highway Administration. Accessed 23 October 2019 from https://babel. hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=uc1.c101180473&view=1up&seq=12
- Chin, H. C. & Zhou, M. (2018). A Study of At-Fault Older Drivers in Light-Vehicle Crashes in Singapore. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 112: 50–55.
- 84. Hess, T. M. (1994). Social Cognition in Adulthood: Aging-related changes in knowledge and processing mechanisms. *Developmental Review*, 14(4): 373–412.
- Krendl, A. C. & Kensinger, E. A. (2016). Does Older Adults' Cognitive Function Disrupt the Malleability of Their Attitudes Toward Outgroup Members? An fMRI investigation. *PLoS One*, 11(4): e0152698.
- Huisingh, C., Levitan, E. B., Irvin, M. R., Owsley, C. & McGwin, G. (2016). Driving with Pets and Motor Vehicle Collision Involvement Among Older Drivers: A prospective populationbased study. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 88: 169–174.
- 87. Zhao, Y., Yamamoto, T. & Morikawa, T. (2018). An Analysis on Older Driver's Driving Behavior by GPS Tracking Data: Road selection, left/right turn, and driving speed. *Journal of Traffic and Transportation Engineering (English Edition)*, 5(1): 56–65.
- Mikoski, P., Zlupko, G. & Owens, D. A. (2019). Drivers' Assessments of the Risks of Distraction, Poor Visibility at Night, and Safety-Related Behaviors of Themselves and Other Drivers. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 62: 416–434.
- 89. Alzheimer's Association. (2012). 2012 Alzheimer's Disease Facts and Figures. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 8(2): 131–168.
- Delazer, M., Sinz, H., Zamarian, L. & Benke, T. (2007). Decision-Making with Explicit and Stable Rules in Mild Alzheimer's Disease. *Neuropsychologia*, 45(8): 1632–1641.

- Paire-Ficout, L., Marin-Lamellet, C., Lafont, S., Thomas-Antérion, C. & Laurent, B. (2016). The Role of Navigation Instruction at Intersections for Older Drivers and Those with Early Alzheimer's Disease. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 96: 249–254.
- Tuokko, H., Tallman, K., Beattie, B. L., Cooper, P. & Weir, J. (1995). An Examination of Driving Records in a Dementia Clinic. *Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 50(3): 173–181.
- 93. Kent, R., Henary, B. & Matsuoka, F. (2005). On the Fatal Crash Experience of Older Drivers. Annual Proceedings/Association for the Advancement of Automotive Medicine, 49: 371–391.
- Moták, L., Gabaude, C., Bougeant, J.-C. & Huet, N. (2014). Comparison of Driving Avoidance and Self-Regulatory Patterns in Younger and Older Drivers. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 26: 18–27.
- Festa, E. K., Ott, B. R., Manning, K. J., Davis, J. D. & Heindel, W. C. (2013). Effect of Cognitive Status on Self-Regulatory Driving Behavior in Older Adults: An assessment of naturalistic driving using in-car video recordings. *Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology*, 26(1): 10–18.
- 96. Owsley, C., Wood, J. M. & McGwin, G. (2015). A Roadmap for Interpreting the Literature on Vision and Driving. *Survey of Ophthalmology*, 60(3): 250–262.
- 97. Pelli, D., Robson, J. & Wilkins, A. (1988). The Design of a New Letter Chart for Measuring Contrast Sensitivity. *Clinical Vision Sciences*, 2(3): 187–199.
- Owsley, C., Stalvey, B. T., Wells, J., Sloane, M. E. & McGwin, G. Jr. (2001). Visual Risk Factors for Crash Involvement in Older Drivers with Cataract. *Archives of Ophthalmology*, 119(6): 881–887.
- Guo, F., Fang, Y. & Antin, J. F. (2015). Older Driver Fitness-to-Drive Evaluation Using Naturalistic Driving Data. *Journal of Safety Research*, 54: 49–54.
- 100. TRIP (2018). Preserving the Mobility and Safety of Older Americans. TRIP. Accessed
 20 October 2019 from https://tripnet.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Older_Americans_
 Mobility_TRIP_Report_2018.pdf
- 101. Langford, J. & Koppel, S. (2006). The Case for and Against Mandatory Age-Based Assessment of Older Drivers. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 9(5): 353–362.
- 102. Coxon, K., Chevalier, A., Lo, S., Ivers, R., Brown, J. & Keay, L. (2015). Behind the Wheel: Confidence and naturalistic measures of driving exposure among older drivers. *Transportation Research Record*, 2516(1): 35–43.
- 103. Langford, J., Charlton, J. L., Koppel, S., Myers, A., Tuokko, H., Marshall, S. et al. (2013). Findings from the Candrive/Ozcandrive Study: Low mileage older drivers, crash risk and reduced fitness to drive. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 61: 304–310.

- 104. Huisingh, C., McGwin, G. Jr. & Owsley, C. (2016). Association of Visual Sensory Function and Higher-Order Visual Processing Skills with Incident Driving Cessation. *Clinical and Experimental Optometry*, 99(5): 441–448.
- 105. Lucidi, F., Mallia, L., Lazuras, L. & Violani, C. (2014). Personality and Attitudes as Predictors of Risky Driving Among Older Drivers. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 72: 318–324.
- 106. Adrian, J., Postal, V., Moessinger, M., Rascle, N. & Charles, A. (2011). Personality Traits and Executive Functions Related to On-Road Driving Performance Among Older Drivers. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 43(5): 1652–1659.
- Schwebel, D. C., Ball, K. K., Severson, J., Barton, B. K., Rizzo, M. & Viamonte, S. M. (2007). Individual Difference Factors in Risky Driving Among Older Adults. *Journal of Safety Research*, 38(5): 501–509.
- 108. McCrae, R. R. & Costa, P. T. Jr. (2008). Empirical and theoretical status of the five-factor model of personality traits. In G. J. Boyle, G. Matthews & D. H. Saklofske (eds.), *The SAGE Handbook of Personality Theory and Assessment. Vol. 1: Personality Theories and Models* (pp. 273-294). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- 109. Gadbois, E. A. & Dugan, E. (2015). The Big Five Personality Factors as Predictors of Driving Status in Older Adults. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 27(1): 54–74.
- 110. Sawula, E., Mullen, N., Stinchcombe, A., Weaver, B., Tuokko, H., Naglie, G. et al. (2017). Associations Between Personality and Self-Reported Driving Restriction in the Candrive II Study of Older Drivers. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 50: 89–99.
- 111. Gray, J. (1972). The psychophysiological nature of introversion–extraversion: a modification of Eysenck's theory. In V. D. Nebulising & J. A. Gray (eds.) *Biological Bases of Individual Behavior*, (pp. 182–205). New York: Academic Press.
- 112. Chan, M. & Singhal, A. (2013). The Emotional Side of Cognitive Distraction: Implications for road safety. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 50: 147–154.
- 113. Bernstein, J. P. K., DeVito, A. & Calamia, M. (2019). Associations Between Emotional Symptoms and Self-Reported Aberrant Driving Behaviors in Older Adults. *Accident Analysis* & *Prevention*, 127: 28–34.
- 114. Taylor, J. E., Alpass, F., Stephens, C. & Towers, A. (2011). Driving Anxiety and Fear in Young Older Adults in New Zealand. *Age & Ageing*, 40(1): 62–66.
- Rudman, D. L., Friedland, J., Chipman, M. & Sciortino, P. (2006). Holding On and Letting Go: The perspectives of pre-seniors and seniors on driving self-regulation in later life. *Canadian Journal on Aging*, 25(1): 65–76.
- 116. Wilson, M., Smith, N. C., Chattington, M., Ford, M. & Marple-Horvat, D. E. (2006). The Role of Effort in Moderating the Anxiety–Performance Relationship: Testing the prediction of processing efficiency theory in simulated rally driving. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 24(11): 1223–1233.

- 117. Dula, C. S., Adams, C. L., Miesner, M. T. & Leonard, R. L. (2010). Examining Relationships Between Anxiety and Dangerous Driving. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 42(6): 2050–2056.
- 118. Shahar, A. (2009). Self-Reported Driving Behaviors as a Function of Trait Anxiety. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 41(2): 241–245.
- Ball, K. K., Roenker, D. L., Wadley, V. G., Edwards, J. D., Roth, D. L., McGwin, G. et al. (2006). Can High-Risk Older Drivers Be Identified Through Performance-Based Measures in a Department of Motor Vehicles Setting? *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 54(1): 77–84.
- Baldock, M. R. J., Mathias, J. L., McLean, J. & Berndt, A. (2006). Self-Regulation of Driving and Older Drivers' Functional Abilities. *Clinical Gerontologist*, 30(1): 53–70.
- 121. Ross, L. A., Dodson, J. E., Edwards, J. D., Ackerman, M. L. & Ball, K. (2012). Self-Rated Driving and Driving Safety in Older Adults. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 48: 523–527.
- 122. Siren, A. & Meng, A. (2013). Older Drivers' Self-Assessed Driving Skills, Driving-Related Stress and Self-Regulation in Traffic. *Transportation Research. Part F*, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 17: 88–97.
- 123. Oxley, J., Charlton, J., Scully, J. & Koppel, S. (2010). Older Female Drivers: An emerging transport safety and mobility issue in Australia. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 42(2): 515–522.
- 124. Gwyther, H. & Holland, C. (2014). Feelings of Vulnerability and Effects on Driving Behaviour: A qualitative study. *Transportation Research. Part F, Psychology and Behaviour*, 24: 50–59.
- 125. D'Ambrosio, L. A., Donorfio, L. K. M., Coughlin, J. F., Mohyde, M. A. & Meyer, J. (2008). Gender Differences in Self-Regulation Patterns and Attitudes Toward Driving Among Older Adults. *Journal of Women and Aging*, 20(3–4): 265–282.
- 126. Kostyniuk, L. P. & Molnar, L. J. (2008). Self-Regulatory Driving Practices Among Older Adults: Health, age and sex effects. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 40(4): 1576–1580.
- 127. Lafont, S., Paire-Ficout, L., Gabaude, C., Hay, M., Bellet, T., Paris, J.-C. et al. (2016). Safemove for older drivers: pour une mobilité sûre des conducteurs âgés. In *Vieillissement et Mobilité* (pp. 121–141). Paris: La Documentation Française.
- 128. Owsley, C., Ball, K., Sloane, M. E., Roenker, D. L. & Bruni, J. R. (1991). Visual/Cognitive Correlates of Vehicle Accidents in Older Drivers. *Psychology and Aging*, 6(3): 403–415.
- 129. McGwin, G. Jr., Owsley, C. & Ball, K. (1998). Identifying Crash Involvement Among Older Drivers: Agreement between self-report and state records. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 30(6): 781–791.
- Singletary, B. A., Do, A. N., Donnelly, J. P., Huisingh, C., Mefford, M. T., Modi, R. et al. (2017). Self-Reported Vs. State-Recorded Motor Vehicle Collisions Among Older Community Dwelling Individuals. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 101: 22–27.

- 131. Anstey, K. J., Wood, J., Caldwell, H., Kerr, G. & Lord, S. R. (2009). Comparison of Self-Reported Crashes, State Crash Records and On-Road Driving Assessment in a Population-Based Sample of Drivers Aged 69–95 Years. *Traffic Injury Prevention*, 10(1): 84–90.
- 132. Marottoli, R. A., Cooney, L. M. Jr. & Tinetti, M. E. (1997). Self-Report Versus State Records for Identifying Crashes Among Older Drivers. *Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 52A(3): M184–M187.
- Porter, M. M. (2018). An Examination of the Concordance Between Self-Reported Collisions, Driver Records, and Insurance Claims in Older Drivers. *Journal of Safety Research*, 67: 211–215.
- 134. af Wåhlberg, A. E. & Dorn, L. (2015). How Reliable Are Self-Report Measures of Mileage, Violations and Crashes. *Safety Science*, 76: 67–73.
- 135. Owsley, C., McGwin, G. Jr. & McNeal, S. F. (2003). Impact of Impulsiveness, Venturesomeness, and Empathy on Driving by Older Adults. *Journal of Safety Research*, 34(4): 353–359.
- 136. Buchanan, T. (2016). Self-Report Measures of Executive Function Problems Correlate with Personality, not Performance-Based Executive Function Measures, in Nonclinical Samples. *Psychological Assessment*, 28(4): 372–385.
- 137. Martin M., Clare L., Altgassen, A. M., Cameron M. H. & Zehnder F. (2011). Cognition-Based Interventions for Healthy Older People and People with Mild Cognitive Impairment. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (1): CD006220.
- 138. Hassan, H., King, M. & Watt, K. (2015). The Perspectives of Older Drivers on the Impact of Feedback on Their Driving Behaviours: A qualitative study. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 28: 25–39.
- 139. Gendolla, G. H. E. & Richter, M. (2010). Effort Mobilization When the Self Is Involved: Some lessons from the cardiovascular system. *Review of General Psychology*, 14(3): 212–226.
- 140. NHTSA (National Highway Traffic Safety Administration) (https://www.nhtsa.gov/technologyinnovation/automated-vehicles-safety
- 141. Payyanadan, R. P., Maus, A., Sanchez, F. A., Lee, J. D., Miossi, L., Abera, A. et al. (2017). Using Trip Diaries to Mitigate Route Risk and Risky Driving Behaviour Among Older Drivers. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 106: 480–491.
- 142. Hawley, C. A., Smith, R. & Goodwin, L. (2018). Road Safety Education for Older Drivers: Evaluation of a classroom-based training initiative. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 59: 505–523.
- 143. Stutts, J., Martell, C. & Staplin, L. K. (2009). *Identifying Behaviors and Situations Associated with Increased Crash Risk for Older Drivers*. Washington, DC: NHTSA.
- 144. af Wåhlberg, A. E. (2006). Speed Choice Versus Celeration Behavior as Traffic Accident Predictor. *Journal of Safety Research*, 37(1): 43–51.

- 145. af Wåhlberg, A. E. (2008). The Relation of Non-Culpable Traffic Incidents to Bus Drivers' Celeration Behaviour. *Journal of Safety Research*, 39(1): 41–46.
- 146. Owens, J. M., Angell, L., Hankey, J. M., Foley, J. & Ebe, K. (2015). Creation of the Naturalistic Engagement in Secondary Tasks (NEST) Distracted Driving Dataset. *Journal of Safety Research*, 54: 33–36.
- 147. Wang, J., Zheng, Y., Li, X., Yu, C., Kodaka, K. & Li, K. (2015). Driving Risk Assessment Using Near-Crash Database Through Data Mining of Tree-Based Model. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 84: 54–64.
- 148. Klauer, S. E., Dingus, T. A., Neale, V. L., Sudweeks, J. D. & Ramsey, D. J. (2009). Comparing Real-World Behaviors of Drivers with High Versus Low Rates of Crashes and Near-Crashes. Report DOT HS 811 091. NHTSA. Accessed 20 October 2019 from www.nhtsa.gov/sites/ nhtsa.dot.gov/files/811091.pdf
- 149. Geotab Management by Measurement. (2016). Accelerometer Data Defined. Accessed23 October 2019 from www.geotab.com/support-documentation/#
- 150. This is 58Wu, K. F., Aguero-Valverde, J. & Jovanis, P. P. (2014). Using Naturalistic Driving Data to Explore the Association Between Traffic Safety-Related Events and Crash Risk at Driver Level. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 72: 210–218.
- 151. Keay, L., Munoz, B., Duncan, D. D., Hahn, D., Baldwin, K., Turano, K. A. et al. (2013). Older Drivers and Rapid Deceleration Events: Salisbury Eye Evaluation Driving Study. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 58: 279–285.
- 152. Dingus, T. A., Klauer, S. G., Neale, V. L., Petersen, A., Lee, S. E., Sudweeks, J. et al. (2006). *The 100-Car Naturalistic Driving Study. Phase II, Results of the 100-Car Field Experiment.* Report DOT HS 810 593. NHTSA. Accessed 24 October 2019 from www.researchgate.net/ publication/329070715_The_100-Car_Naturalistic_Driving_Study_Phase_II_-_Results_of_ the_100-Car_Field_Experiment
- 153. Wong, I. Y., Smith, S. S., Sullivan, K. A. & Allan, A. C. (2016). Toward the Multilevel Older Person's Transportation and Road Safety Model: A new perspective on the role of demographic, functional, and psychosocial factors. *Journals of Gerontology. Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 71(1): 71–86.
- 154. Chevalier, A., Coxon, K., Chevalier, A. J., Wall, J., Brown, J., Clarke, E. et al. (2016). Exploration of Older Drivers' Speeding Behaviour. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 42(3): 532–543.
- 155. Greaves, S. P. & Ellison, A. B. (2011). Personality, Risk Aversion and Speeding: An empirical investigation. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 43(5): 1828–1836.
- 156. Stigson, H., Hagberg, J., Kullgren, A. & Krafft, M. (2014). A One Year Pay-As-You-Speed Trial with Economic Incentives for not Speeding. *Traffic Injury Prevention*, 15(6): 612–618.

- 157. Bellet, T., Paris, J.-C. & Marin-Lamellet, C. (2018). Difficulties Experienced by Older Drivers During Their Regular Driving and Their Expectations Towards Advanced Driving Aid Systems and Vehicle Automation. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 52: 138–163.
- 158. Cuenen, A., Jongen, E. M. M., Brijs, T., Brijs, K., Lutin, M., Van Vlierden, K. et al. (2016). The Relations Between Specific Measures of Simulated Driving Ability and Functional Ability: New insights for assessment and training programs of older drivers. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 39: 65–78.
- 159. Gstalter, H. & Fastenmeier, W. (2010). Reliability of Drivers in Urban Intersections. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 42(1): 225–234.
- 160. Ott, B. R., Papandonatos, G. D., Davis, J. D. & Barco, P. P. (2012). Naturalistic Validation of an On-Road Driving Test of Older Drivers. *Human Factors*, 54(4): 663–674.
- 161. Verster, J. C. & Roth, T. (2011). Standard Operation Procedures for Conducting the On-the-Road Driving Test, and Measurement of the Standard Deviation of Lateral Position (SDLP). *International Journal of General Medicine*, 4: 359–371.
- 162. Sun, Q., Odolinski, R., Xia, J., Foster, J., Falkmer, T. & Lee, H. (2017). Validating the Efficacy of GPS Tracking Vehicle Movement for Driving Behaviour Assessment. *Travel Behaviour & Society*, 6: 32–43.
- 163. Cooper, J. M., Medeiros-Ward, N. & Strayer, D. L. (2013). The Impact of Eye Movements and Cognitive Workload on Lateral Position Variability in Driving. *Human Factors*, 55(5): 1001–1014.
- 164. Sun, Q., Xia, J., Nadarajah, N., Falkmer, T., Foster, J. & Lee, H. (2016). Assessing Drivers' Visual-Motor Coordination Using Eye Tracking, GNSS and GIS: A spatial turn in driving psychology. *Journal of Spatial Science*, 61(2): 299–316.
- 165. McGwin, G. Jr., Sims, R. V., Pulley, L. & Roseman, J. M. (2000). Relations Among Chronic Medical Conditions, Medications, and Automobile Crashes in the Elderly: A populationbased case-control study. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 152(5): 424–431.
- Di Stefano, M. & Macdonald, W. (2005). On-the-road evaluation of driving performance. In J.
 M. Pellerito (ed.), *Driver Rehabilitation and Community Mobility: Principles and practice* (pp. 255–274). St Louis, MO: Elsevier Mosby.
- 167. Justiss, M. D. (2005). Development of a Behind-the-Wheel Driving Performance Assessment for Older Adults. PhD dissertation, University of Florida, FL, USA. Accessed 20 October 2019 from http://etd.fcla.edu/UF/UFE0013121/justiss_m.pdf
- 168. Di Stefano, M. & Macdonald, W. (2010). Australian Occupational Therapy Driver Assessors' Opinions on Improving On-Road Driver Assessment Procedures. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 64(2): 325–335.

- 169. Korner-Bitensky, N., Bitensky, J., Sofer, S., Man-Son-Hing, M. & Gelinas, I. (2006). Driving Evaluation Practices of Clinicians Working in the United States and Canada. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 60(4): 428–434.
- Di Stefano, M. & Macdonald, W. (2003). Assessment of Older Drivers: Relationships among on-road errors, medical conditions and test outcome. *Journal of Safety Research*, 34(4): 415–429.
- 171. Vlahodimitrakou, Z., Charlton, J. L., Langford, J., Koppel, S., Di Stefano, M., Macdonald, W. et al. (2013). Development and Evaluation of a Driving Observation Schedule (DOS) to Study Everyday Driving Performance of Older Drivers. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, 61: 253–260.
- 172. Lundberg, C. & Hakamies-Blomqvist, L. (2003). Driving Tests with Older Patients: Effect of unfamiliar versus familiar vehicle. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 6(3): 163–173.
- 173. MacDonald, L., Myers, A. M. & Blanchard, R. A. (2008). Correspondence Among Older Drivers' Perceptions, Abilities, and Behaviors. *Topics in Geriatric Rehabilitation*, 24(3): 239–252.
- 174. Nasvadi, G. (2007). An Evaluation of Crash Risk Among Older Drivers with Restricted Licenses in British Columbia. MA dissertation, Simon Fraser University, Canada. Accessed 20 October 2019 from https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/56372669.pdf
- 175. Doi, Y. (2014). Korei ido seiyaku so no bapponnteki kaishosaku no kento [Solutions for older adults with mobility barriers]. *Ritsumei Keieigaku*, 52: 195–215.
- 176. Ichikawa, M., Nakahara, S. & Taniguchi, A. (2015). Older Drivers' Risks of At-Fault Motor Vehicle Collisions. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 81: 120–123.
- 177. Korner-Bitensky, N., Kua, A., von Zweck, C. & Van Benthem, K. (2009). Older Driver Retraining: An updated systematic review of evidence of effectiveness. *Journal of Safety Research*, 40(2): 105–111.
- 178. Cicchino, J. B. (2015). Why Have Fatality Rates Among Older drivers declined? The relative contributions of changes in survivability and crash involvement. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 83: 67–73.
- 179. Mueller, A. S., Sangrar, R. & Vrkljan, B. (2019). Rearview Camera System Use Among Older Drivers: A naturalistic observation study. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 65: 655–664.
- 180. Eby, D. W. & Molnar, L. J. (2014). Has the Time Come for an Older Driver Vehicle? *Journal of Ergonomics*, S3: 1–12.
- Eby, D. W., Molnar, L. J., Zhang, L., St. Louis, R. M., Zanier, N. & Kostyniuk, L. P. (2015). *Keeping Older Adults Driving Safely: A research synthesis of advanced in-vehicle technologies*. Washington, DC: AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety.
- 182. Marshall, D., Chrysler, S. & Smith, K. (2014). Older Drivers' Acceptance of In-Vehicle Systems and the Effect It Has on Safety. Report No. MATC-UI: 217. Mid-America Transportation Center. Accessed 20 October 2019 from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/ ad9e/d9f552a140c8d090b1a6c35ca750e763b8c1.pdf
- 183. SAE International (2014). Taxonomy and Definitions for Terms Related to On-Road Motor Vehicle Automated Driving Systems (International Standard J3016). Accessed 20 October 2019 from https://saemobilus.sae.org/content/j3016_201401
- 184. Li, S., Blythe, P., Guo, W. & Namdeo, A. (2019). Investigation of Older Drivers' Requirements of the Human–Machine Interaction in Highly Automated Vehicles. *Transportation Research. Part F,* Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 62: 546–563.
- 185. Yang, J. & Coughlin, J. (2014). In-Vehicle Technology for Self-Driving Cars: Advantages and challenges for aging drivers. *International Journal of Automotive Technology*, 15(2): 333–340.
- 186. Young, K. L., Koppel, S. & Charlton, J. L. (2017). Toward Best Practice in Human Machine Interface Design for Older Drivers: A review of current design guidelines. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 106: 460–467.
- 187. Government of Canada. (2017). *Driver Assistance Technologies*. Transport Canada. Accessed 24 October 2019 from www.tc.gc.ca/en/services/road/driver-assistance-technologies.html
- 188. Gish, J., Vrkljan, B., Grenier, A. & van Miltenburg, B. (2017). Driving with Advanced Vehicle Technology: A qualitative investigation of older drivers' perceptions and motivations for use, *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, 106: 498–504.
- 189. Trübswetter, N. & Bengler, K. (2013). Why should I use ADAS? Advanced Driver Assistance Systems and the elderly: knowledge, experience and usage barriers. In Proceedings of the 7th International Driving Symposium on Human Factors in Driver Assessment, Training and Vehicle Design, 17–20 June 2013, Bolton Landing, NY, USA. pp. 495–501. Iowa City, IA: The University of Iowa.
- 190. Venkatesh, V. & Morris, M. G. (2000). Why Don't Men Ever Stop to Ask for Directions? Gender, social influence, and their role in technology acceptance and usage behavior. *MIS Quarterly*, 24(1): 115–139.
- 191. Jenness, J. W., Lerner, N. D., Mazor, S., Osberg, J. S. & Tefft, B. C. (2007). Use of Advanced In-Vehicle Technology by Young and Older Early Adopters: Results on sensorbased backing systems and rear-view video cameras. Report No. DOT HS 810 828. NHTSA. Accessed 20 October 2019 from http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?d oi=10.1.1.225.9433&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- 192. Maciej, J. & Vollrath, M. (2009). Comparison of Manual Vs. Speech-Based Interaction with In-Vehicle Information Systems. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 41(5): 924–930.
- 193. Sheller, M. (2004). Automotive Emotions: Feeling the car. *Theory, Culture & Society*, 21(4–5): 221–242.

- 194. Meyer, J. (2009). Designing In-Vehicle Technologies for Older Drivers. *The Bridge*, 39(1): 21–26.
- 195. Mårdh, S. (2016). Identifying Factors for Traffic Safety Support in Older Drivers. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic* Psychology and Behaviour, 38: 118–126.
- 196. Braitman, K. A., McCartt, A. T., Zuby, D. S. & Singer, J. (2010). Volvo and Infiniti Drivers' Experience with Select Crash Avoidance Technologies. *Traffic Injury Prevention*, 11(3): 270–278.
- 197. Eichelberger, A. H. & McCartt, A. T. (2014). Volvo Drivers' Experiences with Advanced Crash Avoidance and Related Technologies. *Traffic Injury Prevention*, 15(2): 187–195.
- 198. AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety. (2008). Use of Advanced In-Vehicle Technology by Younger and Older Early Adopters. Washington, DC: AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety.
- 199. Zhan, J., Porter, M. M., Polgar, J. & Vrkljan, B. (2013). Older Drivers' Opinions of Criteria That Inform the Cars They Buy: A focus group study. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 61: 281–287.
- 200. AAA (American Automobile Association). (2015). Smart Features for Older Drivers. AAA. Accessed 20 October 2019 from https://seniordriving.aaa.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/Smart-Features-for-Older-Drivers-Brochure-Iores.pdf
- 201. National Safety Council (2017). *MyCarDoesWhat.org*. Accessed 20 October 2019 from https://mycardoeswhat.org/about/
- 202. Perrin, A. & Duggan, M. (2015). Americans' Internet Access: 2000–2015. Pew Research Center, 26 June. Accessed 21 October 2019 from www.pewinternet.org/2015/06/26/ americans-internet-access-2000-2015/
- 203. Manganello, J. A., Gerstner, G., Pergolino, K., Graham, Y. & Strogatz, D. (2016). Understanding Digital Technology Access and Use Among New York State Residents to Enhance Dissemination of Health Information. *JMIR Public Health and Surveillance*, 2(1): e9.
- 204. Hurtienne, J. & Blessing, L. (2007). Design for intuitive use: testing image schema theory for user interface design. In Proceedings of the *International Conference on Engineering Design*, p. 1-12, 28–31 July 2007, Paris, France. Glasgow: The Design Society.
- 205. Fildes, B., Newstead, S., Keall, M. & Budd, L. (2014). Camera Effectiveness and Backover Collisions with Pedestrians: A feasibility study. Report No. 321. Monash University Accident Research Centre. Accessed 21 October 2019 from www.monash.edu/__data/assets/ pdf_file/0010/216595/Camera-Effectiveness-and-Backover-Collisions-with-Pedestrians-A-Feasibility-Study.pdf
- 206. Insurance Institute for Highway Safety. (2014). *Preventing Driveway Tragedies: Rear cameras help drivers see behind them*. Status Report, 49(2). Accessed 21 October 2019 from www. iihs.org/api/datastoredocument/status-report/pdf/49/2

- 207. NHTSA. (2014). Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards; Rear visibility; Final Rule. Federal Register, 79(66). 49 CFR Part 571. Docket no. NHTSA-2010-0162. NHTSA. Accessed
 21 October 2019 from www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2014-04-07/pdf/2014-07469.pdf
- 208. Vrkljan, B. H., Cranney, A., Worswick, J., O'Donnell, S., Li, L. C., Gélinas, I. et al. (2010). Supporting Safe Driving with Arthritis: Developing a driving toolkit for clinical practice and consumer use. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 64(2): 259–267.
- 209. Porter, M. M., Conci, S. J., Huebner, K. D. & Ogborn, D. I. (2006). Are rear checking behaviors determined by range of motion in older drivers? Report No. 06-0972. In Proceedings of the *Transportation Research Board 85th Annual Meeting*, 22–26 January 2006, Washington, DC, USA. Paper #06-0972. In: TRB 85th Annual Meeting Compendium of Papers CD-ROM. Washington, DC: Transportation Research Board.
- Hurwitz, D. S., Pradhan, A., Fisher, D. L., Knodler, M. A., Muttart, J. W., Menon, R. et al. (2010). Backing Collisions: A study of drivers' eye and backing behaviour using combined rear-view camera and sensor systems. *Injury Prevention*, 16(2): 79–84.
- 211. Austin, R. (2008). Fatalities and Injuries in Motor Vehicle Backing Crashes. Report no. DOT HS 811 144. NHTSA. Accessed 21 October 2019 from https://crashstats.nhtsa.dot.gov/ Api/Public/ViewPublication/811144.pdf
- 212. Kim, S., Hong, J. H., Li, K. A., Forlizzi, J. & Dey, A. K. (2012). Route guidance modality for elder driver navigation. In Proceedings of the *10th International Conference, Pervasive 2012*, 18–22 June 2019, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK. pp. 179–196. Berlin: Springer.
- 213. Yamamoto, N. & DeGirolamo, G. J. (2012). Differential Effects of Aging on Spatial Learning Through Exploratory Navigation and Map Reading. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 4: 14.
- 214. Bryden, K. J., Charlton, J. L., Oxley, J. A. & Lowndes, G. J. (2014). Acceptance of Navigation Systems by Older Drivers. *Gerontechnology*, 13(1): 21–28.
- 215. Stinchcombe, A., Gagnon, S., Kateb, M., Curtis, M., Porter, M. M., Polgar, J. et al. (2017). Letting In-Vehicle Navigation Lead the Way: Older drivers' perceptions of and ability to follow a GPS navigation system. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 106: 515–520.
- 216. Vrkljan, B. H. & Polgar, J. M. (2007). Driving, Navigation, and Vehicular Technology: Experiences of older drivers and their co-pilots. *Traffic Injury Prevention*, 8(4): 403–410.
- 217. Molnar, L. J. & Eby, D. W. (2017). Implications of Advanced Vehicle Technologies for Older Drivers. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 106: 457–459.
- 218. Edwards, S. J., Emmerson, C., Namdeo, A., Blythe, P. T & Guo, W. (2016). Optimising Landmark-Based Route Guidance for Older Drivers. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 43: 225–237.
- 219. Zhang, L., Wang, B., Jia, H. & Dong, B. (2012). Study on the adaptability of on-board navigation equipment for older people. In *Proceedings of the 12th COTA [Chinese Overseas Transportation Association] International Conference of Transportation Professionals*, 3–6 August 2012, Beijing, China. pp. 1107–1114. Red Hook, NY: Curran Associates.

- 220. May, A., Ross, T. & Osman, Z. (2005). The Design of Next Generation In-Vehicle Navigation Systems for the Older Driver. *Interacting with Computers*, 17(6): 643–659.
- 221. Dalton, P., Agarwal, P., Fraenkel, N., Baichoo, J. & Masry, A. (2013). Driving with Navigational Instructions: Investigating user behaviour and performance. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 50: 298–303.
- 222. Jensen, B. S., Skov, M. B. & Thiruravichandran, N. (2010). Studying driver attention and behaviour for three configurations of GPS navigation in real traffic driving. In Proceedings of the ACM [Association for Computing Machinery]Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, 10–15 April 2010, Atlanta, GA, USA. pp. 1271–1280. New York, NY: ACM.
- 223. Yi, J., Lee, H. C., Parsons, R. & Falkmer, T. (2015). The Effect of the Global Positioning System on the Driving Performance of People with Mild Alzheimer's Disease. *Gerontology*, 61(1): 79–88.
- 224. May, A. J. & Ross, T. (2006). Presence and Quality of Navigational Landmarks: Effect on driver performance and implications for design. *Human Factors*, 48(2): 346–361.
- 225. Burnett, G. E., Smith, D. & May, A. J. (2001). Supporting the navigation task: characteristics of 'good' landmarks. In M. A. Hanson (ed.), *Contemporary Ergonomics 2001* (pp. 441–446). Abingdon: Taylor and Francis.
- 226. Burnett, G. E. (1998). *Turn Right at the King's Head: Drivers' requirements for route guidance information*. Loughborough University of Technology: G. E. Burnett.
- 227. Jonah, B. A. (1986). Accident risk and risk-taking behaviour among young drivers. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 18(4): 255–271.
- 228. Siegrist, M. & Sütterlin, B. (2017). Importance of Perceived Naturalness for Acceptance of Food Additives and Cultured Meat. *Appetite*, 113: 320–326.
- 229. Siegrist, M. & Sütterlin, B. (2014). Human and Nature-Caused Hazards: The affect heuristic causes biased decisions. *Risk Analysis*, 34(8): 1482–1494.
- 230. Clark, H. & Feng, J. (2017). Age Differences in the Takeover of Vehicle Control and Engagement in Non-Driving-Related Activities in Simulated Driving with Conditional Automation. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 106: 468–479.
- 231. Gold, C., Körber, M., Lechner, D. & Bengler, K. (2016). Taking Over Control from Highly Automated Vehicles in Complex Traffic Situations: The role of traffic density. *Human Factors*, 58(4): 642–652.
- 232. Miller, D., Johns, M., Ive, H. P., Gowda, N., Sirkin, D., Sibi, S. et al. (2016). Exploring transitional automation with new and old drivers. SAE Technical Paper No. 2016-01-1442. In Proceedings of the SAE 2016 World Congress and Exhibition, 12–14 April 2016, Detroit, MI, USA. Warrendale, PA: SAE International.

- 233. Molnar, L. J., Pradhan, A. K., Eby, D. W., Ryan, L. H., St Louis, R. M., Zakrajsek, J. et al. (2017). Age-Related Differences in Driver Behavior Associated with Automated Vehicles and the Transfer of Control between Automated and Manual Control: A simulator evaluation. Transportation Research Institute, University of Michigan. Accessed 21 October 2019 from https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/137653/UMTRI-2017-4%20. pdf?sequence=3&isAllowed=y
- 234. Li, S., Blythe, P., Guo, W. & Namdeo, A. (2018). Investigation of Older Driver's Takeover Performance in Highly Automated Vehicles in Adverse Weather Conditions. *IET Intelligent Transport Systems*, 12(9): 1157–1165.
- 235. Körber, M., Gold, C., Lechner, D. & Bengler, K. (2016). The Influence of Age on the Take-Over of Vehicle Control in Highly Automated Driving. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 39: 19–32.
- 236. Guo, A. W., Brake, J. F., Edwards, S. J., Blythe, P. T. & Fairchild, R. G. (2010). The Application of In-Vehicle Systems for Elderly Drivers. *European Transport Research Review*, 2(3): 165–174.
- 237. Musselwhite, C. & Haddad, H. (2007). *Prolonging the Safe Driving of Older People Through Technology*. Final report. Bristol: Centre for Transport & Society, University of the West England.
- 238. Vrkljan, B. H. & Miller-Polgar, J. (2005). Advancements in Vehicular Technology: Potential implications for the older driver. *International Journal of Vehicle Information & Communication Systems*, 1(1–2): 88–105.
- 239. Green, P. (2009). Driver interface safety and usability standards: an overview. In M. A. Regan, J. D. Lee & K. L. Young (eds.), *Driver Distraction: Theory, effects, and mitigation* (pp. 445–461). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- 240. Commission of the European Communities (2008). *Commission Recommendation on Safe* and Efficient In-Vehicle Information and Communication Systems: Update of the European Statement of Principles on Human–Machine Interface. Brussels: European Union.
- 241. Alliance of Automobile Manufacturers (2006). *Statement of Principles, Criteria and Verification Procedures on Driver Interactions with Advanced In-Vehicle Information and Communication System*. Washington, DC: Alliance of Automobile Manufacturers.
- 242. JAMA (Japanese Automobile Manufacturers Association). (2004). *Guideline for In-Vehicle Display Systems: Version 3.0.* JAMA. Accessed 21 October 2019 from www.jama-english. jp/release/release/2005/In-vehicle_Display_GuidelineVer3.pdf
- 243. Stevens, A., Quimby, A., Board, A., Kersloot, T. & Burns, P. (2002). Design Guidelines for Safety of In-vehicle Information Systems. Project Report PA3721/01. TRL Limited. Accessed 21 October 2019 from https://trl.co.uk/sites/default/files/PA3721-01.pdf
- 244. Campbell, J. L., Richard, C. M., Brown, J. L. & McCallum, M. C. (2007). *Crash Warning System Interfaces: Human factors insights and lessons learned (HS 810 697)*. Washington, DC: NHTSA.

- 245. NHTSA (2012). Visual-Manual NHTSA Driver Distraction Guidelines for In-Vehicle Electronic Devices. NHTSA. Accessed 22 October 2019 from www.nhtsa.gov/sites/nhtsa.dot.gov/files/ docketnhtsa-2010-0053.pdf
- 246. Stevens, A. (2009). European approaches to principles, codes, guidelines, and checklists for in-vehicle HMI. In M. A. Regan, J. D. Lee & K. L. Young (eds.), *Driver Distraction: Theory, effects, and mitigation* (pp. 395–410). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- 247. Koppel, S. N., Charlton, J. L. & Fildes, B. N. (2009). Distraction and the older driver. In M. A. Regan, J. D. Lee & K. L. Young (eds.), *Driver Distraction: Theory, effects, and mitigation* (pp. 353–382). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- 248. Stinchcombe, A., Gagnon, S., Zhang, J. J., Montembeault, P. & Bedard, M. (2011). Fluctuating Attentional Demand in a Simulated Driving Assessment: The roles of age and driving complexity, *Traffic Injury Prevention*, 12(6): 576–587.
- 249. Bélanger, A., Gagnon, S. & Stinchcombe, A. (2015). Crash Avoidance in Response to Challenging Driving Events: The roles of age, serialization, and driving simulator platform. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 82: 199–212.
- 250. Hakamies-Blomqvist, L., Sirén, A. & Davidse, R. (2004). *Older Drivers: A review*. VTI report 497A. Linköping: Swedish National Road and Transport Research Institute VTI.
- 251. Anstey, K. J., Li, X., Hosking, D. E. & Eramudugolla, R. (2017). The Epidemiology of Driving in Later Life: Sociodemographic, health and functional characteristics, predictors of incident cessation, and driving expectations. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 107: 110–116.
- 252. Anstey, K. J., Eramudugolla, R., Kiely, K. M. & Price, J. (2018). Effect of Tailored On-Road Driving Lessons on Driving Safety in Older Adults: A randomised controlled trial. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 115: 1–10.
- 253. O'Neill, D. (2012). More mad and more wise. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 49: 263–265.
- 254. Hakamies-Blomqvist, L., Wiklund, M. & Henriksson, P. (2005). Predicting Older Drivers' Accident Involvement: Smeed's law revisited. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 37(4): 675–680.
- 255. Martin, A., Balding, L. & O'Neill, B. (2005). A Bad Press: Older drivers and the media. *BMJ*, 330: 368.
- 256. Janke, M. K. (1994). Age-Related Disabilities That May Impair Driving and Their Assessment: Literature review. Sacramento, CA: Department of Motor Vehicles.
- 257. Waller, J. A. (1992). Research and Other Issues Concerning Effects of Medical Conditions on Elderly Drivers. *Human Factors*, 34(1): 3–15.
- 258. Selander, H., Lee, H., Johansson, K. & Falkmer, T. (2011). Older Drivers: On-road and offroad test results. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 43(4): 1348–1354.
- 259. Robertson, C. T. (2011). The Money Blind: How to stop industry bias in biomedical science, without violating the First Amendment. *American Journal of Law & Medicine*, 37(2–3): 358–387.

- 260. Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency. (2015). *Renew Your Driving Licence If You're 70 or Over*. Accessed 22 October 2019 from www.gov.uk/renew-driving-licence-at-70
- 261. Carr, D. B. (ed.) (2010). *Physician's Guide to Assessing and Counseling Older Drivers*. 2nd edition. Washington, DC: NHTSA.
- 262. Staplin, L., Gish, K. W. & Wagner, E. K. (2003). MaryPODS Revisited: Updated crash analysis and implications for screening program implementation. *Journal of Safety Research*, 34(4): 389–397.
- 263. Farley, K. L., Higginson, C. I., Sherman, M. F. & MacDougall, E. (2011). The Ecological Validity of Clinical Tests of Visuospatial Function in Community-Dwelling Older Adults. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, 26(8): 728–738.
- 264. Vanlaar, W., McKiernan, A., McAteer, H., Robertson, R., Mayhew, D., Brown, S. et al. (2014). A Meta-Analysis of Cognitive Screening Tools for Drivers Aged 80 and Over. Traffic Injury Research Foundation. Accessed 22 October 2019 from https://tirf.ca/wp-content/ uploads/2017/01/MTO_cognitive_meta_6.pdf
- 265. Baughan, C. & Keskinen, E. (2005). Meeting the needs of novice drivers. In C. Baughan et al. (eds.), *TEST: Towards European Standards for Testing* (pp. 105–151). Brussels: CIECA [International Commission for Driver Testing].
- 266. Anstey, K. J., Wood, J., Lord, S. & Walker, J. G. (2005). Cognitive, Sensory and Physical Factors Enabling Driving Safety in Older Adults. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 25(1): 45–65.
- 267. Blanchard, R. A. & Myers, A. M. (2010). Examination of Driving Comfort and Self-Regulatory Practices in Older Adults Using In-Vehicle Devices to Assess Natural Driving Patterns. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 42(4): 1213–1219.
- 268. Marottoli, R. A. & Richardson, E. D. (1998). Confidence in, and Self-Rating of, Driving Ability Among Older Drivers. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 30(3): 331–336.
- 269. Man-Son-Hing, M., Marshall, S. C., Molnar, F. J. & Wilson, K. G. (2007). Systematic Review of Driving Risk and the Efficacy of Compensatory Strategies in Persons with Dementia. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 55(6): 878–884.
- 270. Ackerman, M. L., Vance, D. E., Wadley, V. G. & Ball, K. K. (2010). Indicators of Self-Rated Driving Across 3 Years Among a Community-Based Sample of Older Adults. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 13(5): 307–314.
- 271. Freund, B., Colgrove, L. A., Burke, B. L. & McLeod, R. (2005). Self-Rated Driving Performance Among Elderly Drivers Referred for Driving Evaluation. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 37(4): 613–618.
- 272. Meng, A. & Siren, A. (2012). Cognitive Problems, Self-Rated Changes in Driving Skills, Driving-Related Discomfort and Self-Regulation of Driving in Old Drivers. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 49: 322–329.

- 273. Keskinen, E. (2014). Education for Older Drivers in the Future. *IATSS Research*, 38(1): 14–21.
- 274. Keskinen, E. (1998). Kuljettajakoulutuksen tavoitteet psykologisesta näkökulmasta [Goals of driver education from the psychological point of view]. In E. Keskinen et al. (eds.), *PsykologiaKuljettajakoulutuksessa: Kokemuksia ja näkemyksiä* [Psychology in Driver Education: Experiences and views]. Turku: University of Turku, Department of Psychology.
- 275. Eby, D. W., Molnar, L. J., Shope, J. T., Vivoda, J. M. & Fordyce, T. A. (2003). Improving Older Driver Knowledge and Self-Awareness Through Self-Assessment: The driving decisions workbook. *Journal of Safety Research*, 34(4): 371–381.
- 276. Levasseur, M., Audet, T., Gélinas, I., Bédard, M., Langlais, M. È., Therrien, F. H. et al. (2015). Awareness Tool for Safe and Responsible Driving (OSCAR): A potential educational intervention for increasing interest, openness and knowledge about the abilities required and compensatory strategies among older drivers. *Traffic Injury Prevention*, 16(6): 578–586.
- 277. Levasseur, M., Audet, T., Gélinas, I., Bédard, M., Langlais, M. È., Therrien, F. H. et al. (2014). Development and Validation of an Awareness Tool for Safe and Responsible Driving (OSCAR). *Journal of Scientific Research and Reports*, 3(18): 2422–2433.
- 278. Levasseur, M., Audet, T., Gélinas, I., Bédard, M., Renaud, J., Coallier, J.-C. et al. (2014). Outil de Sensibilisation des Conducteurs Âgés aux Capacités Requises pour une Conduite Automobile Sécuritaire et responsable (OSCAR): Développement et Validation. *Recherche Transports Sécurité*, 2014(4): 257–269.
- 279. Levasseur, M., Audet, T. & Gelinas, I. (2013). Sensibilisation des Conducteurs Âgés aux Capacités requises pour une Conduite Automobile Sécuritaire et Responsable (OSCAR).
 Presentation at the 23rd Canadian Multidisciplinary Road Safety Conference, Montreal, Canada, 26–29 May 2013.
- Vigeant, A., Arseneault-Legault, M., Boily, R., Buchanan, S., Carosella, J.-F. & Levasseur, M. (2015). Outil de Sensibilisation des Proches à la Conduit Automobile des Aînés [Awareness of caregivers to driving seniors]. *Canadian Journal on Aging/La Revue Canadienne du Vieillissement*, 36(3): 328–341.
- 281. Betz, M., Jones, J., Petroff, E. & Schwartz, R. (2013). "I Wish We Could Normalize Driving Health:" A qualitative study of clinician discussions with older drivers. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 28(12): 1573–1580.
- 282. Oxley, J., Charlton, J., Fildes, B., Koppel, S., Skulley, J., Congiu, M. et al. (2005). Crash Risk of Older Female Drivers. Report 245. Monash University Accident Research Centre. Accessed 22 October 2019 from www.monash.edu/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/216505/ Crash-risk-of-older-female-drivers.pdf
- 283. Ackerman, M. L., Crowe, M., Vance, D. E., Wadley, V. G., Owsley, C. & Ball, K. K. (2011). The Impact of Feedback on Self-Rated Driving Ability and Driving Self-Regulation Among Older Adults. *Gerontologist*, 513(3): 367–378.

- 284. Johnson, J. E. (2010). Why Rural Elders Drive Against Advice. *Journal of Community Health Nursing*, 19(4): 237–244.
- 285. Kostyniuk, L. P., Molnar, L. J. & Eby, D. W. (2009). Safe Mobility of Older Drivers: Concerns expressed by adult children. *Topics in Geriatric Rehabilitation*, 25(1): 24–32.
- 286. Mitchell, B. A. (2017). *Family Matters: An introduction to family sociology in Canada*. 3rd edition. Toronto: Canadian Scholars.
- 287. Caragata, G., Wister, A. & Mitchell, B. (2019). "You're a Great Driver/Your Driving Scares Me": Reactions of older drivers to family comments. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 60: 485–498.
- 288. Söllner, M. & Florack, A. (2019). Who Provides Feedback to Older Drivers When Driving Ability Tails Off: The role of age stereotypes. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 60: 217–227.
- Belschak, F. D. & Den Hartog, D. N. (2009). Consequences of Positive and Negative Feedback: The impact on emotions and extra-role behaviors. *Applied Psychology*, 58(2): 274–303.
- Rosenbloom, S. (2007). Differences in Perceptions of Driving Skills: Older drivers and adult children of older drivers in the United Kingdom. *Transportation Research Record*, 2009: 15–22.
- 291. Nikitas, A., Avineri, E. & Parkhurst, G. (2018). Understanding the Public Acceptability of Road Pricing and the Roles of Older Age, Social Norms, Pro-Social Values and Trust for Urban Policy-Making: The case of Bristol. *Cities*, 79: 78–91.
- 292. Eriksson, L., Garvill, J. & Nordlund, A. M. (2006). Acceptability of Travel Demand Management Measures: The importance of problem awareness, personal norm, freedom, and fairness. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 26(1): 15–26.
- 293. Coughlin, J. F., Mohyde, M., D'Ambrosio, L. A. & Gilbert, J. (2004). *Who Drives Older Driver Decisions?* Cambridge, MA: MIT Age Lab.
- 294. Molnar, L., Eby, D., Roberts, J., St. Louis, R. & Langford, J. (2009). A New Approach to Assessing Self-Regulation by Older Drivers: Development and testing of a questionnaire instrument. Report No. M-CASTL-2009-04. Accessed 22 October 2019 from https://rosap. ntl.bts.gov/view/dot/34417
- D'Ambrosio, L. A., Coughlin, J. F., Mohyde, M., Gilbert, J. & Reimer, B. (2007). Family Matter: Older drivers and driving decisions. *Transportation Research Record*, 2009(1): 23–29.
- 296. Hassan, H., King, M. & Watt, K. (2017). Examination of the Precaution Adoption Process Model in Understanding Older Drivers' Behaviour: An explanatory study. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 46: 111–123.

- 297. Wilson, L. R. & Kirby, N. H. (2008). Individual Differences in South Australian General Practitioners' Knowledge, Procedures and Opinions of the Assessment of Older Drivers. *Australasian Journal on Ageing*, 27(3): 121–125.
- 298. Redelmeier, D. A. & Stanbrook, M. B. (2012). Graduated Drivers' Licences for Seniors: Reclaiming one benefit of being young. *CMAJ*, 184(10): 1123.
- 299. Berry, C. (2011). Can Older Drivers be Nudged? How the public and private sectors can influence older drivers' self-regulation. RAC Foundation. Accessed 22 October 2019 from www.racfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/older_drivers_nudge-main_report-berry.pdf
- 300. Donmez, B., Boyle, L. N. & Lee, J. D. (2008). Mitigating Driver Distraction with Retrospective and Concurrent Feedback. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 40(2): 776–786.
- 301. Yan, X. & Wu, J. (2014). Effectiveness of Variable Message Signs on Driving Behaviour Based on a Driving Simulation Experiment. *Discrete Dynamics in Nature and Society*, article 206805.
- Newnam, S., Lewis, I. & Warmerdam, A. (2014). Modifying Behaviour to Reduce Over-Speeding in Work-Related Drivers: An objective approach. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 64: 23–29.
- 303. Golisz, K. (2014). Occupational Therapy Interventions to Improve Driving Performance in Older Adults: A systematic review. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 68(6): 662–669.
- 304. Levasseur, M., Coallier, J.-C., Gabaude, C., Beaudry, M., Bédard, M., Langlaid, M-E. et al. (2016). Facilitators, Barriers and Needs in the Use of Adaptive Driving Strategies to Enhance Older Drivers' Mobility: Importance of openness, perceptions, knowledge and support. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 43: 56–66.
- 305. Sargent-Cox, K. A., Windsor, T., Walker, J. & Anstey, K. J. (2011). Health Literacy of Older Drivers and the Importance of Health Experience for Self-Regulation of Driving Behaviour. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 43(3): 898–905.
- 306. Kua, A., Korner-Bitensky, N., Desrosiers, J., Man-Son-Hing, M. & Marshall, S. (2007). Older Driver Retraining: A systematic review of evidence of effectiveness. *Journal of Safety Research*, 38(1): 81–90.
- 307. Hanson, T. R. & Hildebrand, E. D. (2011). Are Age-Based Licensing Restrictions a Meaningful Way to Enhance Rural Older Driver Safety? The need for exposure considerations in policy development. *Traffic Injury Prevention*, 12(1): 24–30.
- 308. Asbridge, M., Desapriya, E., Ogilvie, R., Cartwright, J., Mehrnoush, V., Ishikawa, T. et al. (2017). The Impact of Restricted Driver's Licenses on Crash Risk for Older Drivers: A systematic review. *Transportation Research. Part A, Policy and Practice*, 97: 137–145.
- 309. Owsley, C., McGwin, G. Jr., Phillips, J. M., McNeal, S. F. & Stalvey, B. T. (2004). Impact of an Educational Program on the Safety of High-Risk, Visually Impaired, Older Drivers. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 26(3): 222–229.

- 310. Roenker, D. L., Cissell, G. M., Ball, K. K., Wadley, V. G. & Edwards, J. D. (2003). Speed-of-Processing and Driving Simulator Training Result in Improved Driving Performance. *Human Factors*, 45(2): 218–233.
- 311. Ball, K., Edwards, J. D., Ross, L. A. & McGwin, G. J. Jr. (2010). Cognitive Training Decreases Motor Vehicle Collision Involvement of Older Drivers. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 58(11): 2107–2113.
- 312. Gaspar, J. G., Neider, M. B., Simons, D. J., McCarley, J. S. & Kramer, A. F. (2012). Examining the efficacy of training interventions in improving older driver performance. In Proceedings of the *Human Factors and Ergonomics Society 56th Annual Meeting*, 22–26 October 2012, Boston, MA, USA. pp. 144–148. Santa Monica, CA: Human Factors and Ergonomics Society.
- 313. Mayhew, D., Robertson, R. & Vanlaar, W. (2014). Computer-Based Cognitive Training Programs for Older Drivers: What research tells us. Ottawa: Traffic Injury Research Foundation.
- 314. Casutt, G., Theill, N., Martin, M., Keller, M. & Jäncke, L. (2014). The Drive-Wise Project: Driving simulator training increases real driving performance in healthy older drivers. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 6: 85.
- 315. Levallière, M., Simoneau, M., Tremblay, M., Laurendeau, D. & Teasdale, N. (2012). Active Training and Driving-Specific Feedback Improve Older Drivers' Visual Search Prior to Lane Changes. *BMC Geriatrics*, 12: article 5.
- 316. Romoser, M. R. & Fisher, D. L. (2009). The Effect of Active Versus Passive Training Strategies on Improving Older Drivers' Scanning in Intersections. *Human Factors*, 51(5): 652–668.
- 317. Unsworth, C. A. & Baker, A. (2014). Driver Rehabilitation: A systematic review of the types and effectiveness of interventions used by occupational therapists to improve on-road fitness-to-drive. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 71: 106–114.
- Marottoli, R. A., Van Ness, P. H., Araujo, K. L. B., Iannone, L. P., Acampora, D., Charpentier, P. et al. (2007). A Randomized Trial of an Education Program to Enhance Older Driver Performance. *Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 62(10): 1113–1119.
- 319. Jones, V., Gielen, A., Bailey, M., Rebok, G., Agness, C., Soderstrom, C. et al. (2012). The Effect of a Low and High Resource Intervention on Older Drivers' Knowledge, Behaviors and Risky Driving. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 49: 486–492.
- 320. Korner-Bitensky, N., Menon, A., Von Zweck, C. & Van Benthem, K. (2010). A National Survey of Older Driver Refresher Programs: Practice readiness for a rapidly growing need. *Physical and Occupational Therapy in Geriatrics*, 28(3): 205–214.
- 321. Nasvadi, G. E. & Vavrik, J. (2007). Crash Risk of Older Drivers After Attending a Mature Driver Education Program. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 39(6): 1073–1079.
- 322. Weinstein, N. D. & Sandmand, P. M. (2002). The precaution adoption process model. In K. Glanz, B. K. Rimer & F. M. Lewis (eds.), *Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, research and practice* (pp. 121–143). 3rd edition. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

- 323. Prochaska, J. O. & DiClemente, C. C. (1983). Stages and Processes of Self-Change of Smoking: Toward an integrative model of change. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 51(3): 390–395.
- 324. Peräaho, M., Keskinen, E. & Hatakka, M. (2003). Driver Competence in a Hierarchical Perspective: Implications for driver education. University of Turku Traffic Research. Accessed 22 October 2019 from www.tri-coachingpartnership.com/uploads/2/3/6/3/23635138/ gde_matrix.pdf
- 325. Keskinen, E., Peräaho, M., Laapotti, S., Hernetkoski, K. & Katila, A. (2010). The Fifth Level to the GDE-model: 5soc and 5pro. Presentation at the 3rd Joined NORBIT and the 5th Japanese-Nordic Conference in Traffic and Transportation Psychology, Turku, Finland, 23 August 2019.
- 326. Steinberg, L. (2005). Cognitive and Affective Development in Adolescence. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 9(2): 69–74.
- 327. Hernetkoski, K., Katila, A., Laapotti, S., Lammi, A. & Keskinen, E. (2007). Kuljettajien Sosiaaliset Taidot Liikenteessä: Mitä ovat kuljettajan sosiaaliset taidot, miten ne kehittyvät ja miten ne ovat yhteydessä liikenne-turvallisuuteen [Drivers' Social Skills in Traffic: What are drivers' social skills, how they evolve and how they are related to road safety]. Liikenneturvallisuuden pitkän aikavälin tutkimus- ja kehittämisohjelma [Long-term road safety research and development program]. LINTU Project.
- 328. Renge, K. (2000). Effect of Driving Experience on Drivers' Decoding Process of Roadway Interpersonal Communication. *Ergonomics*, 43(1): 27–39.
- 329. Koskenpää, E. & Keskinen, E. (2008). Age Makes Drivers More Safety Oriented, not Experience: 18–19 year old drivers have less positive attitudes concerning safe driving than 22–25 and 30–40 year old drivers. Unpublished manuscript.
- 330. Charlton, J. L, Oxley, J., Fildes, B., Oxley, P., Newstead, S., Koppel, S. et al. (2006).
 Characteristics of Older Drivers Who Adopt Self-Regulatory Driving Behaviors.
 Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 9(5): 363–373.
- 331. Gwyther, H. & Holland, C. (2012). The Effect of Age, Gender and Attitudes on Self-Regulation in Driving. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 45: 19–28.
- 332. Donorfio, L. K. M., D'Ambrosio, L. A., Coughlin, J. F. & Mohyde, M. (2009). To Drive or Not To Drive, That Isn't the Question: The meaning of self-regulation among older drivers. *Journal of Safety Research*, 40(3): 221–226.
- 333. Marottoli, R. A., de Leon, C. F. M., Glass, T. A., Williams, C. S., Cooney, L. M. Jr. & Berkman, L.
 F. (2000). Consequences of Driving Cessation: Decreased out-of-home activity levels. *Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 55(6): S334–S340.
- 334. Taylor, B. D. & Tripodes, S. (2001). The Effects of Driving Cessation on the Elderly with Dementia and Their Caregivers. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 33(4): 519–528.

- 335. Betz, M. E., Lowenstein, S. R. & Schwartz, R. (2013). Older Adult Opinions of "Advance Driving Directives". *Journal of Primary Care & Community Health*, 4(1): 14–27.
- 336. Allan, D. E. & McGee, P. (2003). Accessible Transportation for All in the Capital Regional District: Where are we now, where should we be going? Victoria, Canada: University of Victoria Centre on Aging.
- 337. Gardezi, F., Wilson, K. G., Man-Son-Hing, M., Marshall, S. C., Molnar, F. J., Dobbs, B. M. et al. (2006). Qualitative Research on Older Drivers. *Clinical Gerontologist*, 30(1): 5–22.
- 338. Oxley, J., Charlton, J. & Fildes, B. (2002). *Self-Regulation of Older Drivers: A review of the literature*. Report AP-R221-03. Sydney: Austroads.
- 339. Musselwhite, C. B. A. & Shergold, I. (2013). Examining the Process of Driving Cessation in Later Life. *European Journal of Ageing*, 10(2): 89–100.
- 340. Eriksson, L., Garvill, J. & Nordlund, A. K. (2008). Interrupting Habitual Car Use: The importance of car habit strength and moral motivation for personal car use reduction. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 11(1): 10–23.
- 341. Gardner, B. (2009). Modelling Motivation and Habit in Stable Travel Mode Contexts. *Transportation Research. Part F, Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 12(1): 68–76.
- 342. Hjorthol, R. (2013). Transportation Resources, Mobility, and Unmet Transportation Needs in Old Age. *Ageing and Society*, 33(7): 1190–1211.
- 343. Lally, P., Chipperfield, A. & Wardle, J. (2008). Healthy Habits: Efficacy of simple advice on weight control based on a habit-formation model. *International Journal of Obesity*, 32(4): 700–707.
- 344. Bauer, M. J., Rottunda, S. & Adler, G. (2003). Older Women and Driving Cessation. *Qualitative Social Work*, 2(3): 309–326.
- 345. Hummert, M. L., Garstka, T. A., Shaner, J. L. & Strahm, S. (1994). Stereotypes of the Elderly Held by Young, Middle-Aged, and Elderly Adults. *Journal of Gerontology*, 49(5): P240–P249.
- 346. Swift, H. J., Abrams, D. & Marques, S. (2013). Threat or Boost? Social comparison affects older people's performance differently depending on task domain. *Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 68(1): 23–30.
- 347. Lamont, R. A., Swift, H. J. & Abrams, D. (2015). A Review and Meta-Analysis of Age-Based Stereotype Threat: Negative stereotypes, not facts, do the damage. *Psychology and Aging*, 30(1): 180–193.
- 348. Davies, G. M. & Patel, D. (2005). The Influence of Car and Driver Stereotypes on Attributions of Vehicle Speed, Position on the Road and Culpability in a Road Accident Scenario. *Issues in Criminological and Legal Psychology*, 10(1): 45–62.
- 349. Joanisse, M., Gagnon, S. & Voloaca, M. (2012). Overly Cautious and Dangerous: An empirical evidence of the older driver stereotypes. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 45: 802–810.

Appendix A: Influence of statements from family members regarding older driver adaptation

"Support driving" statement	High influence rating (%)
I would feel safe driving with you	81
Would you please pick up the kids in your car?	75
I prefer that you drive	69
There's nothing wrong with your driving	67
You have a good driving record	67
You're a great driver	64
You should not give up driving	64
You can drive there	61
You're a better driver than most people	58
You're as good a driver as anyone	56
I don't think your age has anything to do with your driving ability	47
You're a way better driver than	39

"Reduce driving" statement	High influence rating (%)
Your reflexes are getting slower	81
Your driving scares me	75
Your driving has deteriorated	72
You can't see as well to drive any more	69
I worry about your driving	67
Your driving is not as good as it used to be	61
You almost had a crash	58
You're going to cause a crash	58
You've already had a crash	56
You can't even shoulder check properly	53
The roads are too busy for you	50
You get lost when you drive	47

"Modify driving" statement	High influence rating (%)
You drive too fast	67
You are driving too slowly	64
You need to get your eyes checked, you miss things	64
You shouldn't drive at night	58
Avoid that busy intersection	58
Take the quiet route	56
You should not be driving on the highway	53
If you drive, I will help with reading the road signs	53
You'll be OK if you drive slowly	44
You shouldn't be taking long trips	44
You should consider taking some driving lessons	33
It's OK if you just drive around your neighbourhood	28

"Stop driving" statement	High influence rating (%)
How would you feel if you hit a child?	83
I don't want you to drive your grandchildren	78
I don't want you to drive any more	75
You're going to kill someone someday if you keep driving	72
You should stop driving now	72
Let me drive	67
You could take a taxi	50
The police will take away your licence	50
I can drive you wherever you want to go	50
You should think about selling your car	39
People your age should not be driving	31
It is too expensive to keep your car	25

Source: Adapted from Caragata et al. (288)

Appendix B: Trip Diary metrics and driver feedback variables from Payyanadan et al. (141)

Table 2: OBD2 device settings and sensitivity metrics

Geotab GO6 OBD2 data	Definition	Measure and sensitivity settings for passenger vehicle
GPS coordinates	Latitude and longitude data for location retrieval.	Event-based
Trip start/stop	A trip starts when the vehicle starts moving. A stop is recorded when the vehicle ignition is turned off, or when the vehicle has a speed of less than 1 km/h for more than 200s.	
Distance	Distance travelled for each trip from origin to destination.	Miles
Time	Time taken to travel for each trip from origin to destination.	Seconds
Speed	Records changes in speed during a trip.	m/s ² , event-based
Acceleration	3-axis accelerometer recordings to determine vehicle acceleration.	Threshold change of 300 milli-G in any direction
Speed violation	Speed is monitored against the posted road speed. If there was no data on the on the posted speed limit for a section of trip, no speed violation was recorded.	5 mph over the posted speed limit
Hard braking	A hard braking incident is recorded when it caused a force of 1/2 G to be exerted on the vehicle.	G-force exertion set at –0.58
Hard cornering	A hard cornering incident is recorded when a hard or aggressive turn causes a force greater than 2/5 G to be exerted on a vehicle.	G-force exertion set at –0.47 and <–0.47

Geotab GO6 OBD2 data	Definition	Measure and sensitivity settings for passenger vehicle
Seatbelt violation	A seatbelt violation is recorded when the driver is not wearing a seatbelt while the vehicle is moving faster than 6.21 mph. This information is communicated through the ECM (electronic control unit) of the vehicle. But not all vehicles transmit information about the seatbelt, hence reporting depended on the type of vehicle driven.	
Engine light	Identifies vehicles driven with the 'Check Engine' light on.	
Possible accident	A possible accident event is recorded when the accelerometer detects a change in speed of more than 15 mph in 1 s in any direction.	

Table 3: Trip diary data displayed to participants during the treatment period

Trip diary data	Definition	Measure/format of information displayed
Geotab GO6 OBD2 data	Table 2	Count
Google and MapQuest data	Google and MapQuest API was used to obtain corresponding route alternatives with lower route risk.	Latitude and longitude
Alternative low-risk route directions	Google and MapQuest APi was used to obtain corresponding lower risk route directions.	
Left turns and U-turns	A left turn algorithm along with manual assessment of routes was used to determine turn count along a driven route. For route alternatives through Goggle and MapQuest, text directions were imported into R to conduct a text search of left and U-turns count. Direction terms for types of turns was determined by manually comparing turns along a route to corresponding map directions.	Count

Trip diary data	Definition	Measure/format of information displayed
Distance	Distance travelled for each participant trip was obtained from Geotab GO6 OBD2 data. Distance for the alternate route was obtained from Google and MapQuest API.	Miles
Time	Travel time for each trip was obtained from the Geotab GO6 OBD2 data. Travel time for alternative route was obtained from Google and MapQuest API.	Seconds
Traffic incidents	511 Wisconsin Department of Transportation (WisDOT) and MapQuest API.	Count
Lane closures	511 Wisconsin Department of Transportation (WisDOT) and MapQuest API.	Count
Route risk	Probability of a crash based on the weighted combination of route characteristics (left turns, U-turns, distance, traffic incidents and lane closures) from NHTSA crash fatality report.	Ratio (relative to the low-risk alternative route)

Appendix C: Dorset County Council older driver course – training framework (140)

Session	Торіс	Contents
1	What makes a good driver?	Discussion about relevant experience, having patience, being confident, courteous, having good all-round observation and awareness, driving to the prevailing conditions, passenger empathy (smooth acceleration and braking) awareness of fitness to drive, forward planning.
2	Are you concentrating?	Discussion about how to focus attention for longer on the task of driving and sifting out distractions. What should we be concentrating on? Road signs, markings, speed, road position. Looking for clues in the environment as to potential hazards ahead. Use of static and video images.
3	Distractions	Illustrations of potential distractions inside and outside the vehicle. Use of static and video images.
4	Health and vehicle checks	Medical conditions and medications which may affect driving, maintaining your vehicle, checking tyres and keeping windscreen clean. Use of static images.
5	Highway code	UK guide to driving which forms the basis of the driving test. Short quiz session. Use of static images.
6	Motorway driving	Approaching, lane discipline, avoidance of fatigue, planning well ahead, overtaking, following other vehicles, meanings of signs/markings. Use of static and video images.
7	Roundabouts	Approaching, lane positioning, leaving and indicating. Use of static and video images.
8	Road markings	Illustrations of the meaning of different road markings. Using local road network as examples. Use of static images.
9	Safety margins.	An explanation of the two-second rule in good driving conditions and lengthening this in adverse weather conditions. Use of static images.

Session	Торіс	Contents
10	What is a hazard?	Group discussion sharing ideas on what constitutes a driving hazard. Use of static and video images to highlight potential hazards.
11	Observation	Showing real local scenes, both static and video, for a few seconds and asking what they remember. Also used in the session on "Concentration".
12	Collisions	How and why they happen, and how to avoid being involved in someone else's crash. Use of static images to illustrate causes of collisions.



The Royal Automobile Club Foundation for Motoring Ltd is a transport policy and research organisation which explores the economic, mobility, safety and environmental issues relating to roads and their users. The Foundation publishes independent and authoritative research with which it promotes informed debate and advocates policy in the interest of the responsible motorist.

RAC Foundation 89–91 Pall Mall London SW1Y 5HS

Tel no: 020 7747 3445 www.racfoundation.org

Registered Charity No. 1002705 January 2020 © Copyright Royal Automobile Club Foundation for Motoring Ltd

> Designed and printed by The Javelin Partnership Ltd Tel: 0118 907 3494

Produced on paper from a managed sustainable source which is FSC certified as containing 50% recycled waste.

> Main proofreader: Beneficial Proofreading Services Tel: 07979 763116